

Since January 2020 Elsevier has created a COVID-19 resource centre with free information in English and Mandarin on the novel coronavirus COVID-19. The COVID-19 resource centre is hosted on Elsevier Connect, the company's public news and information website.

Elsevier hereby grants permission to make all its COVID-19-related research that is available on the COVID-19 resource centre - including this research content - immediately available in PubMed Central and other publicly funded repositories, such as the WHO COVID database with rights for unrestricted research re-use and analyses in any form or by any means with acknowledgement of the original source. These permissions are granted for free by Elsevier for as long as the COVID-19 resource centre remains active. Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/addr

Recent advances in siRNA delivery mediated by lipid-based nanoparticles



Sei Yonezawa, Hiroyuki Koide, Tomohiro Asai *

Department of Medical Biochemistry, School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Shizuoka, 52-1 Yada, Suruga-ku, Shizuoka 422-8526, Japan

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 12 June 2020 Received in revised form 17 July 2020 Accepted 27 July 2020 Available online 6 August 2020

Keywords: Lipid nanoparticles siRNA pH-responsive ionizable lipid

ABSTRACT

Small interfering RNA (siRNA) has been expected to be a unique pharmaceutic for the treatment of broadspectrum intractable diseases. However, its unfavorable properties such as easy degradation in the blood and negative-charge density are still a formidable barrier for clinical use. For disruption of this barrier, siRNA delivery technology has been significantly advanced in the past two decades. The approval of Patisiran (ONPATTRO[™]) for the treatment of transthyretin-mediated amyloidosis, the first approved siRNA drug, is a most important milestone. Since lipid-based nanoparticles (LNPs) are used in Patisiran, LNP-based siRNA delivery is now of significant interest for the development of the next siRNA formulation. In this review, we describe the design of LNPs for the improvement of siRNA properties, bioavailability, and pharmacokinetics. Recently, a number of siRNAencapsulated LNPs were reported for the treatment of intractable diseases such as cancer, viral infection, inflammatory neurological disorder, and genetic diseases. We believe that these contributions address and will promote the development of an effective LNP-based siRNA delivery system and siRNA formulation.

© 2020 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introd	luction
2.	Lipid-	based nanoparticles for siRNA delivery
	2.1.	Stable nucleic acid-lipid particles (SNALPs)
	2.2.	Multifunctional envelope-type nano device (MEND) system
	2.3.	SS-cleavable and pH-activated lipid-like material (ssPalm)
	2.4.	Lipidoid nanoparticles
	2.5.	Solid lipid nanoparticles (SLNs)
	2.6.	Exosomes
3.	Strate	gy to achieve efficient siRNA delivery
	3.1.	Improvement of siRNA properties by chemical modification
	3.2.	Enhancement of cellular uptake of LNP
	3.3.	Facilitation of endosomal escape of LNP.
	3.4.	Enhancement of intracellular siRNA bioavailability
	3.5.	Improvement of siRNA pharmacokinetics
4.	Devel	opment of LNPs for siRNA therapy
	4.1.	Cancer
	4.2.	Viral diseases
		4.2.1. Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)
		4.2.2. Hepatitis B virus (HBV)
		4.2.3 Hepatitis C virus (HCV)
		4.2.4 Other viruses 72
	4.3.	Inflammatory diseases
		4.3.1 Arteriosclerosis 73
		432 Rheumatoid arthritis
	4.4.	Neurological disorders 73

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: asai@u-shizuoka-ken.ac.jp (T. Asai).

5. Conclusions	73
Contributions	74
Acknowledgements	74
References	74

1. Introduction

Oligonucleotides such as small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) and antisense oligonucleotides (ASOs) are ideal drug candidates that are able to be chemically synthesized and directly act on a target gene in a sequence-dependent manner [1,2]. They are expected as a promising drug modality to fulfill unmet medical needs that have not been satisfied with the use of small molecule- or antibody-based drugs. Because gene silencing with siRNA is triggered by a RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC) system [3], an endogenous enzyme system, siRNA is capable of targeting all genes in principle. The expression of splicing variants and mutants can be also inhibited by RNA interference (RNAi), suggesting that siRNA is applicable for targeting undruggable proteins. Thus, the therapeutic application of siRNA is extremely promising for a variety of diseases.

Only a few years after the discovery of siRNA [4], the world's first clinical trial of intraocularly injected siRNA against vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) was conducted [5]. Since then, clinical application of siRNA has received great attention and widely studied for the development of siRNA-based medicines. Although early clinical trials of siRNA were conducted for the treatment of diseases such as agerelated macular degeneration [6] and lung-infected respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) [7], these trials failed to show any clinical benefits of siRNA drugs. At that time, one of the concerns for the development of siRNA drugs was innate immunity stimulated by siRNA. Judge et al. reported that such innate immune responses can be abrogated by the use of 2'-O-methyl (2'OMe)-modified siRNA [8-10]. Another concern is the development of a drug delivery system (DDS) for siRNA drugs. Since siRNA is a polyvalent anionic and highly hydrophilic mid-sized molecule, it is hardly taken up into cells. In addition, siRNA is easily degraded by nucleases in the blood, resulting in poor accumulation of siRNA in a target tissue. Therefore, it is essential to establish a proper DDS for the development of siRNA drugs.

Lipid-based nanoparticles such as liposomes (Fig. 1a) are a suitable carrier for drug and nucleic acid delivery because of their excellent biocompatibility, biodegradability, low toxicity and immunity, structural flexibility, and ease of large-scale preparation. Many lipid-based nanoformulations have been approved and are being used around the world for the treatment of various diseases [11]. Liposomes containing a cationic or pH-sensitive lipid have been investigated for the delivery of nucleic acids since the 1980s [12,13]. Because positively charged liposomes can electrostatically interact with nucleic acids and form complexes called lipoplexes (Fig. 1b), they have been used for the transfection of cells with plasmid DNA, ASOs [14], and siRNA [15,16]. Various types of lipid-based nanoparticles have been commercially available as a standard transfection reagent. On the other hand, cationic liposomes have been developed for the treatment of diseases and have shown promising pharmacological effects in animal studies; but their instability in blood and their toxicities [17,18] are often major concerns for clinical application. It seems favorable that lipid-based nanoparticles should not have a positive charge in the physiological condition to avoid adverse events.

In 2006, Zimmermann et al. succeeded in long-term silencing of a target gene in cynomolgus monkeys by systemic administration of siRNA encapsulated in lipid nanoparticles (LNPs) containing an ionizable lipid [19]. LNPs have received considerable attention as a promising carrier for siRNA delivery [20]. Twenty years after the discovery of RNAi, Patisiran (ONPATTRO[™]), an LNP formulation of siRNA targeting

transthyretin (TTR), was approved as the first siRNA drug by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in 2018 for the treatment of TTR-type familial amyloid polyneuropathy. Systemic administration of LNPs loaded with siRNA targeting TTR suppresses the deposition of amyloid fibrils of misfolded TTR in the peripheral nerves and heart [21,22]. The LNP is the most successful platform for siRNA delivery in the clinical setting and is expected to be applied for the treatment of various diseases.

2. Lipid-based nanoparticles for siRNA delivery

2.1. Stable nucleic acid-lipid particles (SNALPs)

RNAi-mediated gene silencing in cynomolgus monkeys was shown by intravenous injection of a LNP formulation (Fig. 2), called SNALPs. containing an ionizable lipid, 1,2-dilinoleyloxy-N,N-dimethyl-3aminopropane (DLin-DMA, Fig. 3a) [19], which is an ether analog of 1,2-dioleoyl-3-(*N*,*N*-dimethylamino)propane (DODAP, Fig. 3b) [23]. DODAP is a pH-responsive ionizable lipid containing oleic acid chains, but a subsequent study revealed that ionizable lipids with linoleic acid chains are superior to those with oleic acid chains for the induction of LNP-mediated RNAi [24]. A further study systematically investigated the importance of the linker moiety and the head of the ionized lipid and found excellent in vivo effects of LNPs composed of 2,2-dilinoleyl-4-(2-dimethylaminoethyl)-[1,3]-dioxolane (DLin-KC2-DMA, Fig. 3c) at a siRNA dose of 0.1 mg/kg in mice [25]. This study also demonstrated that the incorporation of an adequate amount of 1,2-distearoyl-snglycero-3-phosphocholine (DSPC) into the LNPs improves their stability during formulation and in the blood circulation. In 2012, the gold standard ionizable lipid, heptatriaconta-6,9,28,31-tetraen-19-yl 4-(dimethylamino)butanoate (DLin-MC3-DMA, Fig. 3d) was generated for hepatic gene silencing in vivo by optimizing the structure of the head group of DLin-KC2-DMA [26]. LNPs containing DLin-MC3-DMA



Fig. 1. Schematic illustration of liposome-mediated delivery of siRNA. a) siRNA is encapsulated in the inner water phase of liposomes. b) siRNA is complexed with liposomes containing cationic lipids.



Fig. 2. Schematic illustration of LNPs. LNPs can be prepared by mixing a lipid mixture dissolved in an organic solvent and siRNA in aqueous solution with a microfluidic device followed by dialysis in water to remove the organic solvent. siRNA is encapsulated in the core of LNPs after dialysis.

achieved hepatic gene silencing in mice when used at a siRNA dose of around 0.005 mg/kg (ED_{50}). In addition, this study showed that the gene-silencing efficiency of LNPs well correlated with the pKa of the ionizable lipid and that the optimal pKa was in the range of 6.2–6.5. The final composition of DLin-MC3-DMA LNPs is DLin-MC3-DMA, DSPC, cholesterol, and 3-*N*-[(ω -methoxypoly(ethylene glycol)2000) carbamoyl]-1,2-dimyristyloxy-propylamine (DMG-mPEG2000) at a molar ratio of 50:10:38.5:1.5. These helper lipids (DSPC, cholesterol, and DMG-mPEG2000) generally contribute to the stability of lipid-based nanoparticles [27]. In the case of hepatic delivery, it is considered that DMG-mPEG2000 is gradually removed from the LNPs in the blood at the same time as apolipoprotein E (ApoE) gradually coats the surface of LNPs, which coating triggers the transport of LNPs into hepatocytes via low-density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor-mediated endocytosis [28].

The preparation methods of lipid-based nanoparticles for nucleic acid delivery have been significantly advanced [29,30]. One of the methods for LNP preparation involves microfluidic mixing of a lipid mixture in ethanol and siRNA in citrate buffer (pH 4.0) followed by dialysis in phosphate buffer to remove the ethanol [31]. The microfluidic mixing method enables the control of particle size and affords high siRNA encapsulation efficiency (~ 100%) and mass production. The structure of LNPs prepared by the microfluidic mixing method has been determined by molecular modeling [32]. The results showed that LNPs have a predominantly hydrophobic core consisting of reverse



Fig. 3. Structural formulae of ionizable lipids used for preparation of SNALP. a) DLin-DMA, b) DODAP, c) DLin-KC2-DMA, d) DLin-MC3-DMA.

micelles of DLin-KC2-DMA that have interacted with siRNA, phospholipid, and cholesterol, with the surface of the lipid bilayer coated with PEG. Recent structural studies on LNPs performed by the use of cryotransmission electron microscopy (TEM) and small-angle X-ray approaches showed that the siRNA/DLin-KC2-DMA complex is present in the form of a sandwich of siRNA in the lipid bilayer at pH 4.0 but that the ionizable lipids in the bilayer structure form an amorphous oil phase in the center of the LNP as the pH is brought closer to neutral [33,34].

2.2. Multifunctional envelope-type nano device (MEND) system

In order to develop siRNA-encapsulated nanoparticles with several functions to overcome multi-step barriers in the body, it is essential to mount functional molecules in one nano-particle for carrying out each function. For this purpose, Harashima et al. proposed the concept of a MEND for nucleic acid delivery [35]. As shown in Fig. 4a, this particle has a structure in which siRNA is encapsulated in the inner phase of a lipid bilayer modified with functional molecules such as peptides. For example, octaarginine (R8)-modified MEND has been reported to be taken up into cells by macropinocytosis followed by the efficient release of the nucleic acids into the cytoplasm [36]. Intracellular dynamics can be controlled by introducing fusible or pH-responsive lipids into the lipid membranes. Harashima's group has been working to develop their own pH-responsive ionizable lipids, resulting in the firstgeneration YSK05 [37], second-generation YSK13 [38], and thirdgeneration CL4H6 (Fig. 4b) [39]. YSK05, an ionizable lipid designed based on the structure of DODAP, has a tertiary amine and unsaturated fatty acid chains and a pKa of 6.4, which lipid enhances the transfection efficiency by promoting endosomal escape. It has been shown that YSK05-MEND exhibits high membrane fusion and gene knockdown activity [37]. Next, YSK13 was developed to enhance the gene-silencing efficiency of MEND [38]. It was revealed that the ED_{50} (0.015 mg/kg) of blood-clotting factor VII (FVII) knockdown in mice intravenously injected with YSK13-MEND with a pKa of 6.45 was more than 4 times less than that of YSK05-MEND [38]. CL4H6 with a pKa of 6.25 was developed by a systematic study on the structure of the ionizable lipid [39]. It was shown that the structure of the head group of ionizable lipids is a primary key to determine the pKa and is important for liver distribution and endosomal escape of LNPs. It was also reported that the structure of the hydrophobic tail does not affect the apparent pKa. This systematic study revealed how the structure of the head group of ionizable lipids affects the carrier's characteristics. In addition, the ED₅₀ of Factor VII knockdown after the intravenous injection of CL4H6 LNPs into mice was shown to be 0.0025 mg/kg [39], indicating that gene-silencing efficiency of LNPs is considerably improved by the systematic study on the structure of the ionizable lipid.

2.3. SS-cleavable and pH-activated lipid-like material (ssPalm)

Akita et al. developed ssPalmas a component of LNPs encapsulating nucleic acids [40-42]. LNPs containing ssPalm (ssPalm-LNPs) are neutral in charge at physiological pH. It has been shown that after internalization of ssPalm-LNPs into cells via endocytosis, ssPalm-LNPs destabilize the endosomal membrane under the acidic condition of the endosome and disintegrate under the reducing environment in the cytoplasm. ssPalm is a lipid derivative that has two tertiary amines, two hydrophobic chains, and a disulfide bond. The tertiary amines of ssPalm are charged positively in response to low pH, which charge contributes to the destabilization of the endosomal membrane. ssPalm-LNPs disintegrate by cleavage of the disulfide bond under the reducing environment, resulting in the release of the encapsulated nucleic acids. These mechanisms were demonstrated for the first-generation ssPalmM (Fig. 5a). ssPalmM-LNPs showed efficient endosomal escape and biodegradability, indicating them to be useful for delivering nucleic acids and controlling particle fate [40]. ssPalmA (Fig. 5b) and ssPalmE



Fig. 4. Schematic illustration of MEND. a) siRNA is enclosed in the internal aqueous phase. The surface of MEND is made up of various functional lipid derivatives to give it multifunctionality to control internal and intracellular kinetics. b) Chemical structures of pH-responsive ionizable lipids YSK05, YSK13 and CL4H6.

(Fig. 5c), which contain vitamin A and E as hydrophobic chains of ssPalm, respectively, have been developed for nucleic acid delivery as the second generation of ssPalm. Since vitamin A in ssPalmA makes it possible to utilize the nuclear transport system operated by cellular retinoic acid-binding protein, the gene-transfer efficiency of ssPalmA-LNPs was dramatically increased compared with that for ssPalm-LNPs [43]. ssPalmE-LNPs are a potential gene carrier with anticancer activity derived from α -tocopherol [44]. In siRNA delivery, intravenously administered ssPalmE-LNP, which uses vitamin E as a hydrophobic scaffold, knocked down FVII more efficiently than ssPalmM or ssPalmA [41]. Furthermore, an improved ssPalmE has been developed in which the tertiary amine of ssPalmE is fixed to the piperidine structure to increase the distance between the surface of the particle and the tertiary amine. The FVII knockdown effect of the improved ssPalmE-LNP achieved an ED₅₀ of 0.035 mg/kg.

On the other hand, activated hepatic stellate cells, which have the ability to produce extracellular matrix, are thought to promote hepatic fibrosis and liver cirrhosis [45]. These cells are known to store vitamin



Fig. 5. Structural formulae of ssPalms. a) ssPalmM is characterized by having miristic acid, 2 tertiary amines, and a disulfide bond, b) ssPalmA contains Vitamin A, c) ssPalmE contains Vitamin E. The tertiary amine of ssPalm is positively charged in response to the acidic pH in the endosome. The disulfide bond is cleaved in response to the reducing environment in the cytoplasm.

A intracellularly in order to maintain homeostasis [46]. Comparing the type I collagen a-1 knockdown effect of 3 kinds of ssPalm-LNPs, ssPalmA-LNP showed the highest inhibitory effect on hepatic fibrosis, with an ED₅₀ of 0.25 mg/kg [47].

2.4. Lipidoid nanoparticles

Nanoparticles (NPs) composed of lipid-like materials, termed "lipidoids," have also been studied for siRNA delivery [48]. The structures of some such lipidoids are shown in Fig. 6. The advantages of lipidoids are that their structure can be freely arranged to improve *in vivo* kinetics, efficacy, and safety of lipidoid NPs. The effect of differences in the partial structure of lipidoids on the properties of lipidoid NPs can be analyzed in the process of screening lipidoids, which enable to predict their potential from the structure and reduce the number of experiments.

There have been three screening research reports on lipidoid NPs from Anderson's group over the last decade [49–51]. The ED_{50} of FVII knockdown obtained by intravenous injection of lipidoid NPs into



Fig. 6. Structural formulae of lipidoids, lipid-like materials. a) C12–200. b) 304O₁₃. c) cKK-E12.

mice was determined after each screening. The ED₅₀ of C12–200 (Fig. 6a) lipidoid NPs developed by Love et al. was 0.01 mg/kg of siRNA [49]. Whitehead et al. performed screening of lipidoids for improving the biocompatibility of lipidoid NPs [50]. Their results showed that $304O_{13}$ (Fig. 6b) NPs induced gene silencing with an ED₅₀ of 0.01 mg/kg and that even with high-dose siRNA (1 mg/kg) no severe cytokine induction or inflammation was induced. Dong et al. identified cKK-E12 (Fig. 6c) by screening with a peptide-based lipidoid library that mimics lipoproteins [51]. The ED₅₀ of cKK-E12 NPs for FVII knockdown was 0.002 mg/kg, being lower than that of DLin-MC3-DMA-LNP.

Lipidoid NPs used in these screenings are composed of lipidoid, DSPC, cholesterol, and DMG-mPEG2000 at a molar ratio of 50:10:38.5:1.5. The average particle size of lipidoid NPs is less than 90 nm. Similar to LNPs, lipidoid NPs are considered to be coated with ApoE in the blood and taken up by hepatocytes via hepatic LDL receptors. The particle size of lipidoid NPs also seems to contribute to liver accumulation, because these NPs can pass through the fenestrae of hepatic vessels, which have a diameter of about 100–150 nm [52,53]. However, the precise delivery mechanism has not been fully elucidated. In recent years, siRNA delivery with lipidoid NPs has been reported for the treatment of inflammation [54] and intestinal disease by oral administration [55]. These studies will provide new insights into siRNA delivery to various target tissues other than the liver.

2.5. Solid lipid nanoparticles (SLNs)

SLNs composed of non-toxic lipids show high biocompatibility [56,57] and have been investigated for drug delivery of therapeutics [58–60] and cosmetics [61]. The structure of SLN is characterized by a lipid core coated with a lipid membrane (Fig. 7). Lipophilic drugs can be incorporated in the core formed by lipids with a high melting point, which feature contributes to sustained drug release from SLNs.

SLNs can be applied to siRNA delivery by adding cationic lipids to SLNs for electrostatic complex formation (Fig. 7a). Similar to other lipid-based NPs, SLNs complexed with siRNA have been investigated for the treatment of cancer [62] and liver diseases [63]. On the other hand, as shown in Fig. 7b, siRNA can be incorporated into the core of SLN by the hydrophobic ion-pairing (HIP) approach [64,65]. This method is based on ionic complex formation between siRNA and cationic lipids by which the hydrophobic siRNA/lipid complex is incorporated into the electrically neutral hydrophobic core of an SLN. For instance, siRNA/DOTAP (1,2-dioleoyl-3-trimethylammonium-propane) can be encapsulated in the triolein core [65]. Then, the lipid core is put into 67% methanol containing phosphatidylcholine and PEGylated lipid, after which the organic solvent is evaporated to obtain siRNA-



Fig. 7. Schematic illustration of SLN. a) SLN has a crystalline triolein core surrounded by phospholipids, cationic lipids, and PEGylated lipids. siRNA interacts with cationic lipids. b) HIP consists of siRNA and cationic lipids is incorporated in the crystalline core of SLN.

encapsulated SLNs. SLNs produced by this method were shown to be capable of sustained release of siRNA in mice over a 10-day period [66]. In addition, an *in vitro* experiment revealed that siRNA gradually released from SLNs for 7 days showed a gene-silencing effect. It has recently been reported that betamethasone, an anti-inflammatory corticosteroid, coencapsulated with siRNA in the core of SLNs suppressed the induction of proinflammatory cytokines, such as IL-6 and monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (MCP-1), in the blood in mice [67]. The number of outer membrane layers can be controlled by changing the ratio of core lipids to surface ones [68], which can be applied to the control of sustained siRNA release.

2.6. Exosomes

Exosomes, endogenous vesicles carrying nucleic acids and proteins, have been received a lot of attention in the field of siRNA delivery research, and are expected to be a safe and efficient DDS carrier [69,70]. It has been clarified that tissues in which exosomes accumulate differ depending on the cells that produce exosomes [71]. It has also been reported that the surface molecules expressed on exosomes are different depending on the type and state of the exosome-producing cells [72,73]. When exosomes are used as an siRNA carrier, the exosomeproducing cells are preferably cells derived from self-tissues in consideration of safety and immunogenicity. Although the use of exosomes as an siRNA carrier is still highly experimental, it has been reported that exosomes collected from human serum can be encapsulated with siRNA by electroporation and introduced into human monocytes and lymphocytes [74,75]. Exosomes produced by the recipients' own cells will be a potential carrier for siRNA delivery.

The surface of exosomes can be modified with ligand molecules to increase selectivity for target cells. Alvarez-Erviti et al. established dendritic cells that produce exosomes constitutively expressing rabies viral glycoprotein (RVG) peptide for selectively targeting neuronal cells [76]. In order to display the RVG peptide on the exosome surface, the dendritic cells were transfected with a chimeric gene encoding the RVG peptide and Lamp2b, an exosome membrane protein. siRNA encapsulated in the RVG peptide-expressing exosomes induced gene silencing of β -site amyloid precursor protein cleaving enzyme 1 (BACE1), a therapeutic target in Alzheimer's disease, in the brain when administered to mice. These results indicate that the RVG peptide-expressing exosomes can cross the blood-brain barrier (BBB) and deliver siRNA into neuronal cells.

ExoCarta (www.exocarta.org), an exosome database, contains information on constituent molecules of exosomes, including proteins, mRNAs, miRNAs, and lipids [77]. From the findings of exosome studies, it is expected to construct artificial exosomes or exosome mimetics useful for tissue-specific delivery of siRNA.

3. Strategy to achieve efficient siRNA delivery

3.1. Improvement of siRNA properties by chemical modification

Chemical modification of siRNA can suppress off-target effects and improve gene silencing efficiency, although too much modification may interfere with RISC formation [78]. The position and frequency of chemical modification should be appropriate to use siRNA for therapeutic applications without off-target effects [79]. Appropriate triazole modification of the guide strand of siRNA has been reported to suppress off-target effects induced by the guide strand, increase the stability of siRNA, and attenuate unfavorable immune stimulation [79–82]. The effect of nucleotide analogues at the 3'-overhang on gene silencing has been clarified to design the sequence of siRNA [83]. In addition, innate immune responses can be prevented by use of 2'OMe-modified siRNA which is used in Patisiran. Thus, chemical modification of siRNA is important for the development of siRNA-encapsulated LNP formulations. Another interesting siRNA chemical modification is the preparation of lipid-siRNA conjugates such as those with cholesterol [84]. It has been reported that such modification not only results in exonuclease resistance but also promotes cellular uptake and increases the blood retention time by binding to LDL and high-density lipoproteins (HDL). Conjugates of *N*-acetyl-*D*-galactosamine (GalNAc) and siRNA have been used for *in vivo* targeting to hepatocytes [85]. GalNAc conjugated with siRNA binds to the asialoglycoprotein receptor on hepatocytes and can reduce the distribution of siRNA to peripheral tissues. The conjugation of GalNAc to siRNA allows high and specific gene silencing in the liver and reduces the risk of gene silencing in different organs [85]. Givosiran, a GalNAc-modified siRNA targeting aminolevulinate synthase 1 (ALAS1) mRNA, was approved in 2019 as the second siRNA drug for the treatment of acute hepatic porphyria [86].

3.2. Enhancement of cellular uptake of LNP

The cell membrane is a barrier to be overcome for efficient delivery of siRNA. Cellular uptake and endocytosis pathway of LNP are determinants for delivery of siRNA into cytoplasm. Conjugation of siRNA or LNP with cell-penetrating peptide (CPP), antibody or other ligands improves the cellular uptake of siRNA [87–90]. Enhancement of membrane fusion with LNP by use of 1,2-Dioleoyl-*sn*-glycero-3-phosphoethanolamine (DOPE) or fusogenic peptides also improves the cellular uptake of siRNA [37,91].

MEND modified with two kinds of CPP peptides, R8 and GALA, has been shown to be a potential carrier for siRNA delivery into dendritic cells [92]. It was shown that MEND modified with R8 is effectively internalized into cells via macropinocytosis [93]. Modification of MEND with GALA which adopts a random coil structure in physiological pH and an α -helix structure in acidic pH [94] was shown to facilitate endosomal escape [37,95]. Therefore, MEND modified with R8 and GALA can overcome multiple barriers, resulting in efficient delivery of siRNA into dendritic cells.

Ligand-mediated targeting of LNP to surface receptors on cancer cells has been achieved for siRNA delivery by use of transferrin [96,97], folic acid [98] or antibodies [99,100]. Internalizing receptors suitable for cellular uptake enhancement of LNP have been identified in various tissues [101–103]. We previously developed LNP decorated with an Fab' antibody against heparin-binding epidermal growth factor-like growth factor (HB-EGF) for siRNA delivery to triple-negative breast cancer cells overexpressing HB-EGF on their cell surface [99,104]. Decoration with anti-HB-EGF Fab' antibody significantly increased the association and internalization of LNP encapsulating siRNA. Intravenous injection of siRNA targeting polo-like kinase 1 (PLK1) with this formulation significantly suppressed the growth of MDA-MB-231 human triple-negative tumors in mice. These findings support that enhancement of cellular uptake of LNP by ligand-mediated targeting is highly effective for delivery of siRNA.

3.3. Facilitation of endosomal escape of LNP

Intracellular dynamics of LNPs is one of great concern to improve the efficiency of siRNA delivery. When LNPs that encapsulate siRNA are taken up into cells by endocytosis, they are sent to late endosomes followed by lysosomes and then degraded [105]. For this reason, LNPs should have a function for endosomal escape and for release of the siRNA into the cytoplasm [24]. The pKa of the ionizable lipid is an important parameter that strongly affects the efficiency of siRNA delivery [26]. The optimal pKa range for gene silencing in hepatocytes has been shown to be 6.2–6.5, suggesting that cationization of ionizable lipids in the weakly acidic environment of the endosome is critical for efficient siRNA delivery. The neutral surface charge of LNPs reduces nonspecific adsorption of serum proteins in the blood to the LNP surface compared with a cationic surface charge [25,106,107]. Such adsorption causes phagocytosis of LNPs in the blood and the liver [108], resulting in a

reduced efficiency of delivery to target tissues. After LNPs are taken up into cells by endocytosis, their surface charge changes from neutral to positive at the low endosomal pH, which change enhances the interaction of the positively charged LNPs with the negatively charged endosomal inner membrane. This electrostatic interaction induces membrane fusion via the hexagonal II structure, allowing the release of the encapsulated siRNA into the cytoplasm [15,25]. In addition to the pKa of the ionizable lipid, the lipid composition of LNPs and the molar ratio of siRNA and lipids in LNPs affects the efficiency of siRNA delivery [25,26,31]. The design of an appropriate formulation of LNPs must be required to capture siRNA in LNPs and induce efficient endosomal escape of LNPs [109].

3.4. Enhancement of intracellular siRNA bioavailability

The control of siRNA kinetics after internalization of LNPs into cells is critical for siRNA delivery. It has been reported that only a small amount of the siRNA internalized into cells contributes to gene silencing, as most of the siRNA internalized is released to the outside of cells by endocytic recycling [105].

The Niemann-Pick type C-1 protein (NPC-1), a lysosomal membrane protein that mediates intracellular cholesterol transport, is considered to play an important role in the regulation of major recycling pathways of siRNA. In NPC-1 knockout cells, the extracellular recycling pathway of siRNA transfection with LNPs is inhibited, resulting in an increased intracellular concentration of siRNA and enhanced gene-silencing efficiency [110]. These findings suggest that inhibition of NPC1 may improve the effect of siRNA transfection via LNPs. Actually, Cullis et al. investigated the effect of incubating various cell lines with LNP encapsulating siRNA in the presence of NP3.47, a NPC1 inhibitor obtained from screening for drugs that prevent Ebola virus infection [111]. The presence of NP3.47 increased LNP accumulation in late endosomes/lysosomes by more than 3-fold and enhanced the knockdown effect by up to 4-fold suggesting that pharmacological inhibition of NPC1 might be an attractive strategy to enhance the therapeutic effect of LNP-siRNA (Fig. 8).

3.5. Improvement of siRNA pharmacokinetics

The physicochemical properties of LNPs such as particle size and surface charge are critical for siRNA delivery via systemic administration. When their properties are not satisfactory for systemic drug delivery, almost all LNPs injected are captured by the mononuclear phagocyte system (MPS) and rapidly eliminated from the blood, resulting in poor



Fig. 8. Mechanisms of enhanced cellular retention of LNPs in cells treated with NP3.47, a NPC1 inhibitor. a) LNPs are often exocytosed to the outside of the cells. b) Endosomal recycling mechanism is impaired by NP3.47 treatment, resulting in enhanced retention of LNPs. c) In cells treated with NP3.47, infection of the Ebola virus is suppressed by inhibiting endosomal recycling mechanism. d) The Ebola virus is exocytosed to the outside of the cells, resulting in infection spread. By NP3.47 treatment, LNP increases the chance of exerting its function by endosomal escape, but Ebola virus reduces the chance of infection because it cannot endosomal escape.

accumulation in a target tissue [108]. To avoid such unfavorable biorecognition, the particle size of LNPs is commonly in the range of 30 to 150 nm; and the surface of LNPs is often covered with PEG. Modification of LNPs with PEG is well known to enhance their dispersibility in aqueous solution and to improve their stability in the blood. On the other hand, the presence of PEG on the surface of LNPs reduces the interaction between LNPs and target cells, which reduction diminishes their internalization into the cells. Therefore, the formulation of PEGylated LNPs should be optimized for the purpose of PEGylation. The amount of a PEG-lipid conjugate for modifying the surface of LNPs strongly influences the physicochemical properties and gene-silencing efficiency of the LNPs [112,113]. It has been reported that the size of LNPs decreases as the proportion of the PEG-lipid conjugate in LNPs increases [31]. Increased PEG density on the surface of LNPs has been shown to reduce the immune response [114]. The structural differences in the length of PEG, fatty acids, and linker of the PEG-lipid conjugate used for modification of LNPs also strongly affect the potential of LNPs. LNPs modified with (R)-3-[(ω -methoxy-PEG-carbamoyl)]-1,2-di-Ooctadecyl-sn-glyceride (C18) showed high blood retention but dramatically reduced gene-silencing effects in the liver [112,113]. This is probably because the interaction between LNPs and cells is reduced or the ability of LNP to adsorb ApoE is reduced, resulting in difficulty in uptake into hepatocytes. The length of fatty acid chains of the PEG lipid is responsible for the time of dissociation from the LNPs. Since PEGylated lipids with myristoyl (C14) chains are rapidly dissociated from the LNPs in the blood circulation, they do not interfere the process of FVII knockdown. We previously showed in mice that long circulation of siRNA-loaded pH-sensitive liposomes modified with PEG was observed only when DSPE-PEG but not distearoylglycerol (DSG)-PEG was used. Our results suggest that the electrostatic interaction between lipid molecules on the surface of the liposomes is a critical determinant for the in vivo effect of PEGylation [115].

PEGylation of LNPs and chemical modification of siRNA reduce their immunogenicity, but it is difficult to completely eliminate the possibility of immune reactions, especially in susceptible individuals [116]. Recently, Chen et al. reported that incorporation of a small amount (4 mol% of total lipid content) of dexamethasone into LNPs can suppress the immune response [117]. Such an approach provides a positive perspective for future clinical trials and commercialization.

4. Development of LNPs for siRNA therapy

4.1. Cancer

Since siRNA specifically inhibits the target protein functions via the specific cleaving of the target mRNA, it has been receiving significant attention as an anti-cancer agent. To date, there have been several successful and unique reports for treating tumors using LNPs. Before the development of LNPs (siRNA-encapsulated lipid nanoparticles), siRNA was delivered to the target organs via systemic administration by attaching siRNA onto the particle (liposome) surface (lipoplex) [118,119]. Since the accumulation of lipoplex in a tumor relies on the enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effect [120,121], the surface of the lipoplex can be modified with a hydrophilic PEG polymer to increase its circulation time after intravenous injection; otherwise, the lipoplex is rapidly captured by the reticuloendothelial system. On the other hand, it was reported that LNPs without a large amount of PEG modification are highly effective for liver targeting [28,122,123]. LNPs prepared with ionizable lipids form a protein corona in the bloodstream [124]. ApoE in the protein corona is recognized by receptors such as LDLR, which are overexpressed by hepatocytes [125]. Then, the complexes are internalized into hepatocytes via the ApoE-LDLR pathway [28,122,123]. Since the formation of the protein corona in the bloodstream is important for the liver targeting of LNPs, only a small amount of PEG modification (~1% as a molar ratio) of the LNP is standard protocol in the case of liver targeting. This means that the PEG modification for liver targeting is not for obtaining long circulation of LNPs after systemic administration but for increasing their stability in the bloodstream, such as by inhibition of aggregation.

In general, ionizable lipids in LNPs are positively charged at lower pH (pH ~6.0); therefore, highly hydrophobic LNPs tend to aggregate at physiological pH (pH 7.4). A small amount of PEG modification increases LNP stability in the bloodstream and may not inhibit ApoE binding in the bloodstream. For example, Huang et al. prepared polymerlipid hybrid nanoparticles (P/LNPs) containing anti-VEGF siRNA [126]. Encapsulation of siRNA into these P/LNPs increased the amount of siRNA delivered into the cells. In addition, the circulation time of siRNA was significantly increased after systemic administration by encapsulation into the P/LNPs compared with that of free siRNA. The intravenous injection of P/LNPs into HepG2 hepatocellular carcinoma cell-implanted mice significantly inhibited the tumor growth and decreased the amount of VEGF mRNA in the tumor. In their report, Huang et al. indicated that the increase in the amount of LNPs (siRNA) delivered into the tumor and a good level of safety make P/LNPs a hopeful approach for cancer therapy. To increase the amount of LNPs delivered into a tumor, Li et al. modified LNPs with a transferrin receptor-targeting ligand in addition to PEG [127]. Also, a CPP was incorporated into the LNPs to enhance their cell-penetration efficacy. These LNPs containing anti-survivin siRNA significantly inhibited tumor growth after intravenous injection.

Now, a large amount of PEG modification and active targeting systems developed by modification with ligand molecules such as peptides and antibodies have been used for the delivery of LNPs to other organs. By intravenous injection, Yamamoto et al. delivered siRNA in LNPs to prostate tumors in vivo by increasing the amount of PEG modification from 1% to 2.5 or 5%, resulting in inhibition of the growth of the implanted tumors [128]. We modified the LNP surface with HB-EGF antibody for the targeting of breast tumors [99,104]. HB-EGF is a ligand that binds to the EGF receptor (EGFR) [129]. It was reported that triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC; no estrogen receptor, progesterone receptor or human epidermal growth factor receptor2 [HER2]) [130] overexpresses HB-EGF [129]. The use of anti-HB-EGF antibodymodified LNP increased the amount of siRNA delivered into the breast tumor after the intravenous injection. It is known that TNBC is refractory and has high malignancy and poor prognosis. Several nano-materials such as functionalized mesoporous silica [131], chitosan-layered gold particles [132], and cationic lipid-based LNPs [133] are used for siRNA delivery to tumors via passive-targeting. On the other hand, we delivered LNPs containing siRNA via active targeting. We succeeded in inhibiting TNBC growth in vivo by silencing PLK1 protein expression in the tumor after the intravenous injection of anti-HB-EGF antibody-modified LNPs containing siRNA against PLK1. This antibody modification strategy is a promising approach for the treatment of triple-negative breast cancer. Sakurai et al. modified the surface of MEND with epithelial cell adhesion molecule (EpCAM)-targeting peptide for targeting several types of cancers [134]. They found that 1.0% modification of the LNP surface with the peptide significantly enhanced the cellular uptake of LNP into several kinds of cancer cells (HT-1080, HEK293T, A549, and HeLa). These results indicate the peptide-based modification would be a useful strategy for delivering LNPs to various types of tumors.

In cancer treatment, targeting hematopoietic tissues is still a big challenge because of the lack of specificity. Jyotsana et al. delivered ionizable cationic LNPs containing anti-breakpoint cluster region-abelson (BCR-ABL) siRNA to bone marrow as a therapy for chronic myelogenous leukemia [135]. BCR-ABL, a chimeric fusion oncogene, is a leukemiaspecific fusion transcript that occurs in acute lymphoblastic leukemia [136]. LNPs containing anti-BCR-ABL siRNA dose-dependently inhibited target mRNA expression in human leukemia K562 cells. In addition, significant knockdown was observed in CD34+ primary chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML) cells compared with the expression level in healthy control cells. They intravenously injected LNPs into a xenograft leukemia mouse model and observed a 60% knockdown of BCR-ABL expression by LNP-anti-BCR-ABL siRNA in leukemia cells sorted from the myelosarcoma tissue, thus indicating that LNPs efficiently delivered siRNA to human leukemia cells in vivo. Knapp et al. tried to cure non-Hodgkin lymphoma by using cationic LNPs formulated with lipidoid [137]. The gold standard for therapy of non-Hodgkin lymphoma is now chemotherapy such as that with R-hyper-CVAD (rituximab, cyclophosphamide, vincristine, doxorubicin, dexamethasone), high-dose methotrexate and cytarabine, and R-CHOP (rituximab, cyclophosphamide, vincristine, prednisone, and doxorubicin) [138,139]. However, treatment options are limited. Knapp's group focused on several growth-related genes such as cyclin D1, Bcl-2, and Mcl-1 and found them to be overexpressed in mantle cell lymphoma cells; and they reported that LNPs encapsulating a cocktail of siRNAs against cyclin D1, Bcl-2 and Mcl-1 significantly inhibited mantle cell lymphoma cell growth [140-142], indicating RNAi therapy to have great potential to enhance currently available treatment. Recently, Huang et al. reported a unique tumor immunotherapy approach [143]. They hypothesized that the production of anti-PD-1 antibody should accelerate tumor immunotherapy. However, an immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment (TME) limits immunotherapeutic efficacy [144]. Since TME stimulates the release of immunosuppressive cytokines from both tumor and stromal cells, Huang's group encapsulated both siRNA against PD-L1, an immune checkpoint, and pDNA encoding IL-2, an immunostimulating cytokine, into tumor-targeting lipiddendrimer-calcium-phosphate nanoparticles to promote antitumor immunity and increase the efficacy of cancer vaccines. The LNPs enhanced tumor CD8+T cell infiltration and activation, leading to the suppression of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) progression in vivo. This unique cocktail strategy has potential as a novel immunotherapy.

Despite the many efforts to improve siRNA delivery for cancer treatment [145], an anticancer siRNA drug has not been launched yet. The anticancer effects of siRNA-based therapeutics may be still insufficient possibly due to delivery problems. Although LNP-mediated delivery of siRNA to liver tumors is promising because LNPs coated with ApoE in the blood are expected to be internalized into liver cancer cells via the ApoE-LDLR pathway, delivery systems of siRNA to other cancer tissues are still under exploration. Identification and use of the internalization pathway selective for target cells will open the way to construct innovative LNP systems for cancer therapy. Because siRNA has great potential for cancer treatment, we strongly believe that the efforts in overcoming delivery problems contribute to the development of siRNA-based cancer therapy.

Table 1 lists clinical trials in which lipid-based nanoparticles were used as a tool for siRNA delivery to cancers. EphA2-targeting DOPC-encapsulated siRNA (NCT01591356) is an siRNA-encapsulated liposome composed of DOPC. This candidate is expected to have a high therapeutic effect due to its excellent pharmacokinetics based on the high biocompatibility of neutral lipids [146]. The detailed lipid composition of the lipid-based nanoparticle called DCR-MYC (NCT02314052) has not been clarified, but the greatest feature is that the siRNA molecule encapsulated in DCR-MYC is designed to be efficiently cleaved by Dicer. Knockdown of the oncogene MYC was expected to be applicable for the treatment of various types of cancer, but its development is currently on hold as the results of a trial fell short of expectations [147]. TKM-080301 (NCT02191878) is a so-called SNALP containing DLin-DMA as a constituent lipid, and though well tolerated, its antitumor effect was limited [148]. It should be noted that trials using other ionizable lipids may be carried out in the future.

4.2. Viral diseases

The rapid development of drug resistance and the harmful side effects of long-term use are serious concerns for antivirus therapies. NPs-mediated delivery of antiviral drugs is a promising approach to

improve antivirus therapies. The small size and adjustable surfacecharge properties of NPs aid their delivery to a variety of target cells [149–152].

4.2.1. Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)

A variety of antiretroviral (ARV) drugs are available to treat HIV/acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS) [153–158]. Combinations of three or more drugs, known as highly active ARV therapies (HAART), have significantly improved the expectations and quality of life of HIV-infected individuals; but these therapies are not without side effects. A variety of reviews have been published specifically focusing on the development of HIV/AIDS vaccines [159,160] and siRNA drugs for HIV treatment [149,161–163].

T cells and macrophages are early targets of HIV, which cells are very important for controlling infections and preventing their expansion. The delivery of anti-HIV siRNA to virus-infected immune cells has been investigated as an RNAi-based HIV/AIDS treatment. Kim et al. reported that lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1 (LFA-1) integrintargeted immunoliposomes encapsulating anti-CCR5 (chemokine receptor 5) siRNA reduced the viral load of plasma in an HIV-infected humanized mouse model over a 1-day period [164]. Berger et al. developed Neutraplex lipid-based NPs to deliver chemokine receptor type 4 (CXCR4)-siRNA and showed suppression of HIV virus replication in human macrophage cells by CXCR4 knockdown [165]. On the other hand, a complex of NPs composed of chitosan-lipid and a plasmid DNA encoding an siRNA cocktail (siCCR5, siCXCR4, siTat, siGag, si5'LTR, and siRev) was prepared and administered to chimeric simian human immunodeficiency virus (SHIV SF162)-infected rhesus monkeys intravaginally, leading to a significant drop in viral titer [166].

4.2.2. Hepatitis B virus (HBV)

HBV causes liver inflammation and is the cause of subsequent chronic infections. Chronic HBV infection progresses to hepatic cirrhosis and then to liver cancer. Current anti-HBV therapy includes interferon (IFN)- α , PEGylated IFN, nucleoside analogue reverse transcriptase Inhibitors (lamivudine, adefovir, entecavir, terbivudine, and tenofovir) [167]. Anti-HBV treatment is generally considered to cause drug resistance and has the risk of side effects such as liver failure [168]. Despite the development of many compatible drugs, it is difficult to completely eliminate HBV antigens such as Hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) and hepatitis B e antigen (HBeAg) and covalently closed circular (ccc) DNA.

Inhibition of synthesis of viral antigens with siRNAs is an ideal strategy for HBV treatment. Yamamoto et al. showed that the expression of antigenic proteins (HBsAg and HBeAg) was successfully suppressed by siRNA-loaded YSK13-MEND in mice with persistently infected hepatitis B virus by silencing the sequences highly conserved among HBV strains [38]. In addition, GalNAc-modified PEG-coated LNP-siRNA reduced HBV replication in hepatocytes compared with that achieved with unmodified LNP [169].

ARB-001467, which is an HBsAg-siRNA formulated in LNPs, has been shown to inhibit HBV protein production and to further reduce the cccDNA content in preclinical studies; and its phase 2 trial has been completed (Table 2). A clinical trial of DCR-HBVS, a synthetic RNAi drug that consists of a double-stranded oligonucleotide conjugated to GalNAc ligands, is undergoing (phase1 recruiting, NCT03772249).

4.2.3. Hepatitis C virus (HCV)

HCV causes both acute and chronic hepatitis, killing approximately 400,000 people each year. Previously, "interferon treatment" using PEGylated IFN and ribavirin was used; but recently, "interferon-free treatment" has become mainstream. "Interferon-free treatment" is a treatment with direct-acting antiviral drugs including redipasvir, which can cure most HCV-infected individuals and shorten the treatment period. [170].

In addition to virus-targeted therapy, siRNA-mediated knockdown of the viral replication mechanism in the host has been proposed.

1	a	b.	le	1	
---	---	----	----	---	--

Clinical trials of siRNA-encapsulated lipid-based nanoparticles against cancer.

Drug Name	Target	Vehicle	Disease	Status	ClinicalTrials. gov Identifier	Company
EphA2-targeting DOPC- encapsulated siRNA	EphA2	Liposome	Advanced Malignant Solid Neoplasm	Recruiting, Phase I	NCT01591356	M.D. Anderson Cancer Center
DCR-MYC	Oncogene MYC	LNP	Hepatocellular Carcinoma	Terminated, Phase I, II	NCT02314052	Dicerna Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
TKM-080301	PLK1 (polo-like kinase-1)	LNP	Advanced Hepatocellular Carcinoma	Completed, Phase I, II	NCT02191878	Arbutus Biopharma Corporation

Lipidoid NPs containing siRNA targeting protein kinase C-related kinase 2 (PRK2), effectively inhibited HCV replication in a xenograft model and is attracting attention as a new HCV drug therapy [171]. Vitamin E-labeled cationic liposomes loaded with siRNA targeting HCV non-structural protein 5A was developed for hepatic delivery and shown to suppress both HCV core antigen production and HCV replication [172].

potential carrier useful for the development of siRNA therapeutics and mRNA vaccine for COVID-19.

4.3. Inflammatory diseases

4.2.4. Other viruses

Ebola virus disease (EVD) is an often deadly and contagious disease in primates, causing Ebola hemorrhagic fever [173,174]. siRNAs using lipid-based nanosystems (TKM-130803) have progressed to clinical trials, but unfortunately no significant protection has been achieved in infected patients [175]. However, it has been reported that the administration of LNPs containing siRNA to multiple targets (EK-1 mod, VP24, and VP35) to rhesus monkeys infected with lethal Zaire ebola virus (ZEBOV) improved the survival rate after infection [176]. To develop broad-spectrum therapies against members of the Marburg virus (MARV) genus, investigators have examined the therapeutic effect of single nucleoprotein-targeting siRNA-loaded LNPs composed of 3-(dilinoleylmethoxy)-N,N-dimethylpropan-1-amine on nonhuman primates at advanced stages of MARV or Ravn virus (RAVV) disease: and siRNA-LNP treatment conferred a high survival rate in both disease models, suggesting the possibility of broad-spectrum therapy against both MARV and RAVV [177]. A study in which an siRNA targeting Sudan Ebola virus VP35 was delivered by LNP also showed a prolonged survival of similarly infected non-human primates [178].

Currently, coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) is in a rage all over the world. New therapeutic drug and vaccine candidates for COVID-19 are undergoing clinical trials. Remdesivir was recently approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for emergency use in patients with COVID-19. The viral genome that causes COVID-19 was reported to be closest to the severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) coronavirus group and was officially named SARS-CoV-2 [179]. It was recently revealed that SARS-CoV-2 utilizes angiotensin converting enzyme II (ACE2) as a receptor for intracellular entry [179]. With the progress of SARS-CoV-2 genome analysis, the sequences that can be targets of siRNA therapeutics have been identified [180–182]. Lipid-based nanoparticles are expected as a

LNPs targeting immune cells such as antigen-presenting cells are expected to be applicable for siRNA treatment of inflammatory and autoimmune diseases. The usefulness of LNPs containing various ionizable lipids (DLin derivatives) has been investigated for siRNA delivery to immune cells. LNP-mediated gene silencing of a target protein (GAPDH) on bone marrow-derived macrophages and dendritic cells was successful both in vitro and in vivo, and this system holds promise for the delivery of therapeutic siRNAs to treat various immune disorders [183]. Since delivery by the LNP system can deliver siRNA targeting CD45 to immune cells, it can be expected to be applied to neuroinflammation and autoimmune diseases related to Alzheimer's disease. Nakamura et al. showed that MEND composed of YSK12-C4, a second-generation ionizable lipid, induces remarkable gene silencing of target protein (GAPDH) on various human immune cell lines (Jurkat, THP-1, KG-1, and NK92) and dendritic cells *in vivo* [184,185]. In addition, they reported that some of the toxicological challenges of YSK12-C4 were overcome, with significantly reduced cytotoxic effects on natural killer cells (NK-92) and hemolytic activity [186]. Controlling the function of T cells by RNAi is expected to be useful for the treatment of various diseases such as cancer and viral infections, and is therefore of great interest. Ramishetti et al. reported that LNPs modified with anti-CD4 monoclonal antibodies efficiently delivered siRNA to CD4 + T lymphocytes in vitro and increased the accumulation of these cells in the spleen, lymph nodes, and bone marrow in vivo [103]. Furthermore, in recent years the expression of constitutive molecules (CD40, CD80, CD86) has been successfully knocked down by using LNP-siRNA to which an antibody against mouse DEC205+ dendritic cells had been bound [187]. Vitamin A-coupled lipid nanoparticles (Table 2, ND-L02-s0201), which inhibit the expression of collagen-specific chaperone HSP47, was clinically tested for the treatment of liver fibrosis; but it is currently used for the treatment of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (NCT03538301, Recruiting, Phase II).

Table 2

Clinical trials of siRNA-encapsulated lipid-based nanoparticles against various diseases.

Drug Name	Target	Vehicle	Disease	Status	ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier	Company
ND-L02-s0201 ARB-001467 ALN-PCS02 PRO-040201	HSP47 HBsAg PCSK9 ApoB	LNP LNP LNP LNP	Hepatic fibrosis Hepatitis B, Chronic Elevated LDL-cholesterol Hypercholesterolemia	Completed, Phase I Completed, Phase II Completed, Phase I Terminated, Phase I (Potential for immune stimulation to interfere with further dose escalation.)	NCT02227459 NCT02631096 NCT01437059 NCT00927459	Bristol-Myers Sqyubb Pharmaceuticals Arbutus Biopharma Corporation Alnylam Pharmaceuticals Arbutus Biopharma Corporation

4.3.1. Arteriosclerosis

Long-term gene silencing effects over 10 days can be obtained with systemic administration of siRNA-encapsulated LNPs [19], suggesting that this system may be applicable for treating atherosclerosis and the chronic inflammation found in cardiovascular disease. Lauschner et al. reported that lipidoid C12-200-LNPs containing siRNA targeting chemokine receptor CCR2 was localized in the spleen and bone marrow after systemic administration [49] and suppressed atherosclerotic plaque formation associated with mouse macrophages [188,189]. Sager et al. prepared LNPs composed of a lipid derivative of polyethyleneimine and an encapsulated siRNA cocktail against 5 adhesion molecules (Icam1, Icam2, Vcam1, Sele and Selp) [190]. Gene silencing of these adhesion molecules by the systemic administration of the LNPs significantly reduced vascular neutrophil and monocyte recruitment induced by myocardial infarction. Bifunctional core-shell NPs modified with hyaluronic acid and apolipoprotein A-I for targeting endothelial cell and macrophage, respectively, have been developed for the delivery of siRNA targeting Lectin-like, oxidized low-density lipoprotein receptor-1 (LOX-1) and atorvastatin [191]. These dualtargeting NPs where shown histochemically to suppress plaque formation, neutral lipid accumulation, and MCP-1 expression in aortic root lesions, indicating their anti-atherosclerotic activity in endothelial cells and macrophages.

In 2003, Abifadel et al. identified a proprotein convertase subtilisin/ kexin type 9 (PCSK9) gene in an analysis of an autosomal dominant inheritance-hyper-LDL-C family and showed that the cause of autosomal dominant hypercholesterolemia (ADH) was a gain-of-function due to a missense mutation in the PCSK9 gene [192]. Standard treatment of ADH is statin treatment, but a significant proportion of patients do not reach their treatment goals even at the highest tolerated doses. In addition, because long-term administration of statins shows severe side effects, a new therapeutic approach has been awaited.

Lipidoid-NP loaded with PCSK9-siRNA (siPCSK9) was shown to reduce the LDL concentration in the blood for 3 weeks after intravenous administration in rodents and nonhuman primates [193]. Thereafter, a trial for LNPs encapsulating siPCSK9 for intravenous injection was clinically conducted (Table 2, NCT01437059) [194]. On the other hand, trials for the delivery of siPCSK9 conjugated with GalNAc for subcutaneous administration were conducted: a Phase I trial in 2014 (NCT02314442) and a Phase II one in 2016 (NCT02597127) and 2017 (NCT03060577). In the phase I trials, the knockdown effect remained for over 6 months, with safety [195].

The most important risk factor for atherosclerosis is hyperlipidemia [197]. The development of atherosclerosis correlates with high levels of LDL. A high correlation between blood levels of apolipoprotein B (ApoB) and the risk of arteriosclerosis is known, but it is difficult to target ApoB with small molecule drugs. As such, siRNAs have been viewed as attractive treatment option, and an LNP-siRNA system consisting of DLin-DMA was previously reported to reduce plasma lipid levels [197]. A clinical trial of PRO-040201 using the SNALP system was started in 2010 but was terminated due to side effects on the immune system in high-dose patients (Table 2, NCT00927459) [198].

4.3.2. Rheumatoid arthritis

Silencing of inflammatory cytokine genes including TNF- α , NF- κ B, and IL-1 β is a promising approach for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. The delivery of TNF- α -siRNA by acid-sensitive sheddable PEGylated SLNs reduced collagen-induced inflammation in arthritis model mice that did not respond to methotrexate treatment [199]. It was also reported that NF- κ B-siRNA and methotrexate encapsulated in folate-conjugated liposomes reduced the progression of arthritis and reduced inflammatory cytokines in a collagen-induced arthritis mouse model [200]. Lipidoid-polymer hybrid nanoparticles efficiently delivered siRNA targeting IL-1 β to macrophages, resulting in effective suppression of pathologies such as paw swelling and bone destruction in experimental arthritis [201].

4.4. Neurological disorders

BBB is a major obstacle for drug delivery to the brain. Unlike peripheral tissues, capillaries in the brain form a tight junction and have no fenestrae [202]. In addition, P-glycoprotein (P-gp), a kind of ATPdependent drug transport protein, at the luminal side of endothelial cells selectively inhibits the accumulation of drug molecules in the brain [203]. The development of a brain delivery system is thus required to overcome these hurdles. Recent studies focused on brain delivery have offered a novel strategy for the treatment of neurological disorders. In addition to reducing drug size, delivering drugs to the brain via carrier-mediated transport involved in uptake such as that of glucose can be a very attractive strategy [204,205].

In 2013, it was reported that ionizable cationic lipid-LNP containing siRNA spread widely in the brain and showed significant knockdown of target mRNA (GRIN1, coding GluN1 subunit of NMDA [*N*-methyl-*D*-aspartate] receptor) in the brain after intracortical or intracerebroven-tricular injection without an immune response [206]. Conceicao, et al. treated polyglutamine neurological disease (Machado-Joseph disease; MID) via the systemic administration of LNPs [207]. They prepared DODAP-LNP incorporating a short peptide derived from RVG-9r and siRNA targeting mutant ataxin-3. Intravenous injection of the LNPs into MID model mice improved motor behavior deficits. These findings show the potential of LNPs as a noninvasive neuropathy therapy.

Drugs that target cholinergic and glutamatergic neurotransmission have been developed for the treatment of cognitive impairment seen in Alzheimer's disease [208]. For instance, acetylcholinesterase inhibitors improve the symptoms of patients, but further drug development is required to address the unmet needs of Alzheimer's disease. Chitosan-coated SLN modified with a CPP derived from RVG was shown to deliver siRNA into monolayer Caco-2 cells that mimics olfactory epithelium [209]. The results suggested that this SLN-siRNA may be a potential therapeutic candidate for Alzheimer's disease via the intranasal (nose-to-brain) delivery route. In another study to avoid the toxicity of cationic NPs, siRNA-anionic NP complexes were prepared by utilizing anionic PEG-liposomes and cationic targeting peptide [210]. Then, via intra brain injection of the complexes, the knockdown effect of siRNA against BACE1 was examined, with the result being a reduction in the number of amyloid plaques in the brain. Delivering siRNA with LNPs might be a useful approach for intractable neurodegenerative diseases by optimizing the formulation and injection route.

5. Conclusions

After the discovery of the RNAi phenomenon, numerous researchers thought that many intractable diseases might be cured by using synthetic siRNA; because siRNA is expected to be high specificity and low side effects. Although it is well known that the potential of siRNA is very promising for disease therapy, unfavorable siRNA properties such as easy degradation, low cellular uptake, and low endosomal escapability stand in the way of drug development. Up to now, a number of siRNA delivery carriers have been developed for the application of siRNA to intractable diseases. Finally, the first siRNA therapeutic was approved in 2018, i.e., Patisiran (ONPATTRO[™]). However, ONPATTRO™ is just the opening player of many future RNAi therapeutics. As highlighted in this review, many lipid-based nanoparticles have been developed for the improvement of siRNA properties, bioavailability, and pharmacokinetics. In addition, several siRNA-encapsulated LNPs show a therapeutic effect against cancer, inflammation, neurological disorder, and genetic disease. The challenges faced regarding the above-mentioned unfavorable properties of siRNAs will be surmounted by the designing of high-performance LNPs. On the other hand, it is true that current strategies still lack in vivo efficiency and targeting ability (delivery to organs other than the liver). For future RNAi therapeutics, the discovery and development of LNP with innovative targeting functions that deliver therapeutic siRNA specifically into target cells are

awaited. We strongly hope that attractive RNAi therapeutics for the treatment of intractable diseases will be developed shortly.

Contributions

SY, HK, and TA conceived and co-wrote the manuscript. The manuscript was approved by all authors.

Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful for the financial support by Japan Society for the Promotion of Science KAKENHI grant number 16K08201.

References

- C.F. Bennett, E.E. Swayze, RNA targeting therapeutics: molecular mechanisms of antisense oligonucleotides as a therapeutic platform, Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. (2010) https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.pharmtox.010909.105654.
- [2] A. de Fougerolles, H.P. Vornlocher, J. Maraganore, J. Lieberman, Interfering with disease: a progress report on siRNA-based therapeutics, Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. (2007) https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd2310.
- [3] E. Bernstein, A.A. Caudy, S.M. Hammond, G.J. Hannon, Role for a bidentate ribonuclease in the initiation step of RNA interference, Nature (2001) https://doi.org/10. 1038/35053110.
- [4] S.M. Elbashir, J. Harborth, W. Lendeckel, A. Yalcin, K. Weber, T. Tuschl, Duplexes of 21-nucleotide RNAs mediate RNA interference in cultured mammalian cells, Nature. (2001) https://doi.org/10.1038/35078107.
- [5] A.O. Garba, S.A. Mousa, Bevasiranib for the Treatment of Wet, Age-Related Macular Degeneration, Ophthalmol. Eye Dis, 2010 https://doi.org/10.4137/oed.s4878.
- [6] J. Shen, R. Samul, R.L. Silva, H. Akiyama, H. Liu, Y. Saishin, S.F. Hackett, S. Zinnen, K. Kossen, K. Fosnaugh, C. Vargeese, A. Gomez, K. Bouhana, R. Aitchison, P. Pavco, P.A. Campochiaro, Suppression of ocular neovascularization with siRNA targeting VEGF receptor 1, Gene Ther. (2006) https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.gt.3302641.
- [7] V. Bitko, A. Musiyenko, O. Shulyayeva, S. Barik, Inhibition of respiratory viruses by nasally administered siRNA, Nat. Med. (2005) https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1164.
- [8] A.D. Judge, V. Sood, J.R. Shaw, D. Fang, K. McClintock, I. MacLachlan, Sequencedependent stimulation of the mammalian innate immune response by synthetic siRNA, Nat. Biotechnol. (2005) https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt1081.
- [9] A.D. Judge, G. Bola, A.C.H. Lee, I. MacLachlan, Design of noninflammatory synthetic siRNA mediating potent gene silencing in vivo, Mol. Ther. (2006) https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ymthe.2005.11.002.
- [10] A. Judge, I. MacLachlan, Overcoming the innate immune response to small interfering RNA, Hum. Gene Ther. (2008) https://doi.org/10.1089/hum.2007.179.
- [11] A. Beloqui, M.Á. Solinís, A. Rodríguez-Gascón, A.J. Almeida, V. Préat, Nanostructured lipid carriers: Promising drug delivery systems for future clinics, Nanomedicine (2016) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2015.09.004.
- [12] P. Pinnaduwage, L. Schmitt, L. Huang, Use of a quaternary ammonium detergent in liposome mediated DNA transfection of mouse L-cells, BBA - Biomembr. (1989) https://doi.org/10.1016/0005-2736(89)90099-0.
- [13] C.Y. Wang, L. Huang, pH-sensitive immunoliposomes mediate target-cell-specific delivery and controlled expression of a foreign gene in mouse, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. (1987) https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.84.22.7851.
- [14] D.D. Stuart, G.Y. Kao, T.M. Allen, A novel, long-circulating, and functional liposomal formulation of antisense oligodeoxynucleotides targeted against MDR1, Cancer Gene Ther. (2000) https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.cgt.7700145.
- [15] I.M. Hafez, N. Maurer, P.R. Cullis, On the mechanism whereby cationic lipids promote intracellular delivery of polynucleic acids, Gene Ther. (2001) https://doi. org/10.1038/sj.gt.3301506.
- [16] X. Zhou, L. Huang, DNA transfection mediated by cationic liposomes containing lipopolylysine: characterization and mechanism of action, BBA - Biomembr. (1994) https://doi.org/10.1016/0005-2736(94)90066-3.
- [17] H. Lv, S. Zhang, B. Wang, S. Cui, J. Yan, Toxicity of cationic lipids and cationic polymers in gene delivery, J. Control. Release (2006) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel. 2006.04.014.
- [18] M.C. Filion, N.C. Phillips, Toxicity and immunomodulatory activity of liposomal vectors formulated with cationic lipids toward immune effector cells, Biochim. Biophys. Acta Biomembr. (1997) https://doi.org/10.1016/S0005-2736 (97)00126-0.
- [19] T.S. Zimmermann, A.C.H. Lee, A. Akinc, B. Bramlage, D. Bumcrot, M.N. Fedoruk, J. Harborth, J.A. Heyes, L.B. Jeffs, M. John, A.D. Judge, K. Lam, K. McClintock, L.V. Nechev, L.R. Palmer, T. Racie, I. Röhl, S. Seiffert, S. Shanmugam, V. Sood, J. Soutschek, I. Toudjarska, A.J. Wheat, E. Yaworski, W. Zedalis, V. Koteliansky, M. Manoharan, H.P. Vornlocher, I. MacLachlan, RNAi-mediated gene silencing in non-human primates, Nature, 2006 https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04688.
- [20] A.K.K. Leung, Y.Y.C. Tam, P.R. Cullis, Lipid Nanoparticles for Short Interfering RNA Delivery, Adv. Genet., 2014 https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-800148-6.00004-3.
- [21] T. Coelho, D. Adams, A. Silva, P. Lozeron, P.N. Hawkins, T. Mant, J. Perez, J. Chiesa, S. Warrington, E. Tranter, M. Munisamy, R. Falzone, J. Harrop, J. Cehelsky, B.R. Bettencourt, M. Geissler, J.S. Butler, A. Sehgal, R.E. Meyers, Q. Chen, T. Borland, R.M. Hutabarat, V.A. Clausen, R. Alvarez, K. Fitzgerald, C. Gamba-Vitalo, S.V. Nochur, A.K. Vaishnaw, D.W.Y. Sah, J.A. Gollob, O.B. Suhr, Safety and efficacy of

RNAi therapy for transthyretin amyloidosis, N. Engl. J. Med. (2013) https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJMoa1208760.

- [22] O.B. Suhr, T. Coelho, J. Buades, J. Pouget, I. Conceicao, J. Berk, H. Schmidt, M. Waddington-Cruz, J.M. Campistol, B.R. Bettencourt, A. Vaishnaw, J. Gollob, D. Adams, Efficacy and safety of patisiran for familial amyloidotic polyneuropathy: a phase II multi-dose study, Orphanet J. Rare Dis. (2015) https://doi.org/10.1186/s13023-015-0326-6.
- [23] A.L. Bailey, P.R. Cullis, Modulation of membrane fusion by asymmetric transbilayer distributions of amino lipids, Biochemistry (1994) https://doi.org/10.1021/ bi00208a007.
- [24] J. Heyes, L. Palmer, K. Bremner, I. MacLachlan, Cationic lipid saturation influences intracellular delivery of encapsulated nucleic acids, J. Control. Release (2005) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2005.06.014.
- [25] S.C. Semple, A. Akinc, J. Chen, A.P. Sandhu, B.L. Mui, C.K. Cho, D.W.Y. Sah, D. Stebbing, E.J. Crosley, E. Yaworski, I.M. Hafez, J.R. Dorkin, J. Qin, K. Lam, K.G. Rajeev, K.F. Wong, L.B. Jeffs, L. Nechev, M.L. Eisenhardt, M. Jayaraman, M. Kazem, M.A. Maier, M. Srinivasulu, M.J. Weinstein, Q. Chen, R. Alvarez, S.A. Barros, S. De, S.K. Klimuk, T. Borland, V. Kosovrasti, W.L. Cantley, Y.K. Tam, M. Manoharan, M.A. Ciufolini, M.A. Tracy, A. De Fougerolles, I. MacLachlan, P.R. Cullis, T.D. Madden, M.J. Hope, Rational design of cationic lipids for siRNA delivery, Nat. Biotechnol. (2010) https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.1602.
- [26] M. Jayaraman, S.M. Ansell, B.L. Mui, Y.K. Tam, J. Chen, X. Du, D. Butler, L. Eltepu, S. Matsuda, J.K. Narayanannair, K.G. Rajeev, I.M. Hafez, A. Akinc, M.A. Maier, M.A. Tracy, P.R. Cullis, T.D. Madden, M. Manoharan, M.J. Hope, Maximizing the potency of siRNA lipid nanoparticles for hepatic gene silencing in vivo, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. (2012) https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201203263.
- [27] Y.C. Tseng, S. Mozumdar, L. Huang, Lipid-based systemic delivery of siRNA, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. (2009) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2009.03.003.
- [28] A. Akinc, W. Querbes, S. De, J. Qin, M. Frank-Kamenetsky, K.N. Jayaprakash, M. Jayaraman, K.G. Rajeev, W.L. Cantley, J.R. Dorkin, J.S. Butler, L. Qin, T. Racie, A. Sprague, E. Fava, A. Zeigerer, M.J. Hope, M. Zerial, D.W. Sah, K. Fitzgerald, M.A. Tracy, M. Manoharan, V. Koteliansky, A. De Fougerolles, M.A. Maier, Targeted delivery of RNAi therapeutics with endogenous and exogenous ligand-based mechanisms, Mol. Ther. (2010) https://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2010.85.
- [29] L.B. Jeffs, L.R. Palmer, E.G. Ambegia, C. Giesbrecht, S. Ewanick, I. MacLachlan, A scalable, extrusion-free method for efficient liposomal encapsulation of plasmid DNA, Pharm. Res. (2005) https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-004-1873-z.
- [30] N. Maurer, K.F. Wong, H. Stark, L. Louie, D. McIntosh, T. Wong, P. Scherrer, S.C. Semple, P.R. Cullis, Spontaneous entrapment of polynucleotides upon electrostatic interaction with ethanol-destabilized cationic liposomes, Biophys. J. (2001) https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3495(01)76202-9.
- [31] N.M. Belliveau, J. Huft, P.J. Lin, S. Chen, A.K. Leung, T.J. Leaver, A.W. Wild, J.B. Lee, R.J. Taylor, Y.K. Tam, C.L. Hansen, P.R. Cullis, Microfluidic synthesis of highly potent limit-size lipid nanoparticles for in vivo delivery of siRNA, Mol. Ther. - Nucleic Acids. (2012) https://doi.org/10.1038/mtna.2012.28.
- [32] A.K.K. Leung, I.M. Hafez, S. Baoukina, N.M. Belliveau, I.V. Zhigaltsev, E. Afshinmanesh, D.P. Tieleman, C.L. Hansen, M.J. Hope, P.R. Cullis, Lipid nanoparticles containing siRNA synthesized by microfluidic mixing exhibit an electron-dense nanostructured core, J. Phys. Chem. C (2012) https://doi.org/10.1021/jp303267y.
- [33] J.A. Kulkarni, M.M. Darjuan, J.E. Mercer, S. Chen, R. Van Der Meel, J.L. Thewalt, Y.Y.C. Tam, P.R. Cullis, On the formation and morphology of lipid nanoparticles containing ionizable cationic lipids and siRNA, ACS Nano (2018) https://doi.org/10.1021/ acsnano.8b01516.
- [34] J.A. Kulkarni, D. Witzigmann, S. Chen, P.R. Cullis, R. Van Der Meel, Lipid nanoparticle technology for clinical translation of siRNA therapeutics, Acc. Chem. Res. (2019) https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.accounts.9b00368.
- [35] K. Kogure, H. Akita, Y. Yamada, H. Harashima, Multifunctional envelope-type nano device (MEND) as a non-viral gene delivery system, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. (2008) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2007.10.007.
- [36] Y. Nakamura, K. Kogure, S. Futaki, H. Harashima, Octaarginine-modified multifunctional envelope-type nano device for siRNA, J. Control. Release (2007) https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2007.03.010.
- [37] Y. Sato, H. Hatakeyama, Y. Sakurai, M. Hyodo, H. Akita, H. Harashima, A pHsensitive cationic lipid facilitates the delivery of liposomal siRNA and gene silencing activity in vitro and in vivo, J. Control. Release (2012) https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jconrel.2012.09.009.
- [38] N. Yamamoto, Y. Sato, T. Munakata, M. Kakuni, C. Tateno, T. Sanada, Y. Hirata, S. Murakami, Y. Tanaka, K. Chayama, H. Hatakeyama, M. Hyodo, H. Harashima, M. Kohara, Novel pH-sensitive multifunctional envelope-type nanodevice for siRNA-based treatments for chronic HBV infection, J. Hepatol. (2016) https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jhep.2015.10.014.
- [39] Y. Sato, K. Hashiba, K. Sasaki, M. Maeki, M. Tokeshi, H. Harashima, Understanding structure-activity relationships of pH-sensitive cationic lipids facilitates the rational identification of promising lipid nanoparticles for delivering siRNAs in vivo, J. Control. Release (2019) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2019.01.001.
- [40] H. Akita, R. Ishiba, H. Hatakeyama, H. Tanaka, Y. Sato, K. Tange, M. Arai, K. Kubo, H. Harashima, A Neutral envelope-type nanoparticle containing pH-responsive and ss-cleavable lipid-like material as a carrier for plasmid DNA, Adv. Healthc. Mater. (2013) https://doi.org/10.1002/adhm.201200431.
- [41] H. Akita, Y. Noguchi, H. Hatakeyama, Y. Sato, K. Tange, Y. Nakai, H. Harashima, Molecular tuning of a vitamin E-scaffold pH-sensitive and reductive cleavable lipid-Like material for accelerated In vivo hepatic siRNA delivery, ACS Biomater, Sci. Eng. (2015) https://doi.org/10.1021/acsbiomaterials.5b00203.
- [42] H. Tanaka, A. Watanabe, M. Konishi, Y. Nakai, H. Yoshioka, T. Ohkawara, H. Takeda, H. Harashima, H. Akita, The delivery of mRNA to colon inflammatory lesions by lipid-nano-particles containing environmentally-sensitive lipid-like materials

with oleic acid scaffolds, Heliyon (2018) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2018. e00959.

- [43] H. Tanaka, H. Akita, R. Ishiba, K. Tange, M. Arai, K. Kubo, H. Harashima, Neutral biodegradable lipid-envelope-type nanoparticle using vitamin A-Scaffold for nuclear targeting of plasmid DNA, Biomaterials. (2014) https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biomaterials.2013.11.016.
- [44] H. Akita, R. Ishiba, R. Togashi, K. Tange, Y. Nakai, H. Hatakeyama, H. Harashima, A neutral lipid envelope-type nanoparticle composed of a pH-activated and vitamin E-scaffold lipid-like material as a platform for a gene carrier targeting renal cell carcinoma, J. Control. Release (2015) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2014.12.029.
- [45] G. Marrone, V.H. Shah, J. Gracia-Sancho, Sinusoidal communication in liver fibrosis and regeneration, J. Hepatol. (2016) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2016.04.018.
- [46] H. Senoo, K. Yoshikawa, M. Morii, M. Miura, K. Imai, Y. Mezaki, Hepatic stellate cell (vitamin A-storing cell) and its relative – past, present and future, Cell Biol. Int. (2010) https://doi.org/10.1042/cbi20100321.
- [47] N. Toriyabe, Y. Sakurai, A. Kato, S. Yamamoto, K. Tange, Y. Nakai, H. Akita, H. Harahsima, The delivery of small interfering RNA to hepatic stellate cells using a lipid nanoparticle composed of a vitamin A-scaffold lipid-like material, J. Pharm. Sci. (2017) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xphs.2017.04.042.
- [48] A. Akinc, A. Zumbuehl, M. Goldberg, E.S. Leshchiner, V. Busini, N. Hossain, S.A. Bacallado, D.N. Nguyen, J. Fuller, R. Alvarez, A. Borodovsky, T. Borland, R. Constien, A. De Fougerolles, J.R. Dorkin, K. Narayanannair Jayaprakash, M. Jayaraman, M. John, V. Koteliansky, M. Manoharan, L. Nechev, J. Qin, T. Racie, D. Raitcheva, K.G. Rajeev, D.W.Y. Sah, J. Soutschek, I. Toudjarska, H.P. Vornlocher, T.S. Zimmermann, R. Langer, D.G. Anderson, A combinatorial library of lipid-like materials for delivery of RNAi therapeutics, Nat. Biotechnol. (2008) https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt1402.
- [49] K.T. Love, K.P. Mahon, C.G. Levins, K.A. Whitehead, W. Querbes, J.R. Dorkin, J. Qin, W. Cantley, L.L. Qin, T. Racie, M. Frank-Kamenetsky, K.N. Yip, R. Alvarez, D.W.Y. Sah, A. De Fougerolles, K. Fitzgerald, V. Koteliansky, A. Akinc, R. Langer, D.G. Anderson, Lipid-like materials for low-dose, in vivo gene silencing, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. (2010) https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0910603106.
- [50] K.A. Whitehead, J.R. Dorkin, A.J. Vegas, P.H. Chang, O. Veiseh, J. Matthews, O.S. Fenton, Y. Zhang, K.T. Olejnik, V. Yesilyurt, D. Chen, S. Barros, B. Klebanov, T. Novobrantseva, R. Langer, D.G. Anderson, Degradable lipid nanoparticles with predictable in vivo siRNA delivery activity, Nat. Commun. (2014) https://doi.org/10. 1038/ncomms5277.
- [51] Y. Dong, K.T. Love, J.R. Dorkin, S. Sirirungruang, Y. Zhang, D. Chen, R.L. Bogorad, H. Yin, Y. Chen, A.J. Vegas, C.A. Alabi, G. Sahay, K.T. Olejnik, W. Wang, A. Schroeder, A.K.R. Lytton-Jean, D.J. Siegwart, A. Akinc, C. Barnes, S.A. Barros, M. Carioto, K. Fitzgerald, J. Hettinger, V. Kumar, T.I. Novobrantseva, J. Qin, W. Querbes, V. Koteliansky, R. Langer, D.G. Anderson, Lipopeptide nanoparticles for potent and selective siRNA delivery in rodents and nonhuman primates, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. (2014) https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1322937111.
- [52] R. Kanasty, J.R. Dorkin, A. Vegas, D. Anderson, Delivery materials for siRNA therapeutics, Nat. Mater. (2013) https://doi.org/10.1038/nmat3765.
- [53] E. Wisse, F. Jacobs, B. Topal, P. Frederik, B. De Geest, The size of endothelial fenestrae in human liver sinusoids: Implications for hepatocyte-directed gene transfer, Gene Ther. (2008) https://doi.org/10.1038/gt.2008.60.
- [54] L.N. Kasiewicz, K.A. Whitehead, Lipid nanoparticles silence tumor necrosis factor α to improve wound healing in diabetic mice, Bioeng. Transl. Med. (2019) https:// doi.org/10.1002/btm2.10123.
- [55] R.L. Ball, P. Bajaj, K.A. Whitehead, Oral delivery of siRNA lipid nanoparticles: fate in the GI tract, Sci. Rep. (2018) https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-20632-6.
- [56] M.R. Gasco, S. Morel, Lipospheres from Microemulsions, Farmaco, 1990.
- [57] R.H. Muller, W. Mehnert, J.S. Lucks, C. Schwarz, A. Zur Muhlen, H. Weyhers, C. Freitas, D. Ruhl, Solid lipid nanoparticles (SLN) an alternative colloidal carrier system for controlled drug delivery, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 41 (1995) 62–69.
- [58] S. Weber, A. Zimmer, J. Pardeike, Solid lipid nanoparticles (SLN) and nanostructured lipid carriers (NLC) for pulmonary application: a review of the state of the art, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. (2014) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2013.08.013.
- [59] S. Martins, S. Costa-Lima, T. Carneiro, A. Cordeiro-Da-Silva, E.B. Souto, D.C. Ferreira, Solid lipid nanoparticles as intracellular drug transporters: an investigation of the uptake mechanism and pathway, Int. J. Pharm. (2012) https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijpharm.2012.03.032.
- [60] N. Yadav, S. Khatak, U.V. Singh Sara, Solid lipid nanoparticles- A review, Int. J. Appl. Pharm. 5 (2013) 8–18.
- [61] S. Patwekar, S. Gattani, R. Giri, A. Bade, Balaji Sangewar, V. Raut, Review on nanoparticles used in cosmetics and dermal products, World J. Pharm. Pharm. Sci. 3 (2014) 1407–1421.
- [62] Y.H. Yu, E. Kim, D.E. Park, G. Shim, S. Lee, Y.B. Kim, C.W. Kim, Y.K. Oh, Cationic solid lipid nanoparticles for co-delivery of paclitaxel and siRNA, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm, 2012 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2011.11.002.
- [63] W.H. Kong, K. Park, M.Y. Lee, H. Lee, D.K. Sung, S.K. Hahn, Cationic solid lipid nanoparticles derived from apolipoprotein-free LDLs for target specific systemic treatment of liver fibrosis, Biomaterials. (2013) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials. 2012.09.067.
- [64] S. Lee, S.C. Yang, C.Y. Kao, R.H. Pierce, N. Murthy, Solid polymeric microparticles enhance the delivery of siRNA to macrophages in vivo, Nucleic Acids Res. (2009) https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkp758.
- [65] G.B. Jacobson, E. Gonzalez-Gonzalez, R. Spitler, R. Shinde, D. Leake, R.L. Kaspar, C.H. Contag, R.N. Zare, Biodegradable nanoparticles with sustained release of functional siRNA in skin, J. Pharm. Sci. (2010) https://doi.org/10.1002/jps.22147.
- [66] T. Lobovkina, G.B. Jacobson, E. Gonzalez-Gonzalez, R.P. Hickerson, D. Leake, R.L. Kaspar, C.H. Contag, R.N. Zare, In vivo sustained release of siRNA from solid lipid nanoparticles, ACS Nano (2011) https://doi.org/10.1021/nn203745n.

- [67] H.L. O'Mary, M.S. Hanafy, A.M. Aldayel, S.A. Valdes, R.F. Alzhrani, S. Hufnagel, J.J. Koleng, Z. Cui, Effect of the ratio of betamethasone to TNF-α siRNA Coencapsulated in solid lipid nanoparticles on the acute Proinflammatory activity of the nanoparticles, Mol. Pharm. (2019) https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.molpharmaceut.9b00629.
- [68] H. Heiati, N.C. Phillips, R. Tawashi, Evidence for phospholipid bilayer formation in solid lipid nanoparticles formulated with phospholipid and triglyceride, Pharm. Res. (1996) https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1016090420759.
- [69] S. El Andaloussi, I. Mäger, X.O. Breakefield, M.J.A. Wood, Extracellular vesicles: biology and emerging therapeutic opportunities, Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. (2013) https:// doi.org/10.1038/nrd3978.
- [70] R.C. Lai, R.W.Y. Yeo, K.H. Tan, S.K. Lim, Exosomes for drug delivery a novel application for the mesenchymal stem cell, Biotechnol. Adv. (2013) https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.biotechadv.2012.08.008.
- [71] K. Laulagnier, C. Motta, S. Hamdi, S. Roy, F. Fauvelle, J.F. Pageaux, T. Kobayashi, J.P. Salles, B. Perret, C. Bonnerot, M. Record, Mast cell- and dendritic cell-derived display a specific lipid composition and an unusual membrane organization, Biochem. J. (2004) https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20031594.
- [72] J. Webber, R. Steadman, M.D. Mason, Z. Tabi, A. Clayton, Cancer exosomes trigger fibroblast to myofibroblast differentiation, Cancer Res. (2010) https://doi.org/10. 1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-1722.
- [73] E. Segura, C. Nicco, B. Lombard, P. Véron, G. Raposo, F. Batteux, S. Amigorena, C. Théry, ICAM-1 on exosomes from mature dendritic cells is critical for efficient naive T-cell priming, Blood (2005) https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2005-01-0220.
- [74] J. Wahlgren, T.D.L. Karlson, M. Brisslert, F. Vaziri Sani, E. Telemo, P. Sunnerhagen, H. Valadi, Plasma exosomes can deliver exogenous short interfering RNA to monocytes and lymphocytes, Nucleic Acids Res. (2012) https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gks463.
- [75] S. Kamerkar, V.S. Lebleu, H. Sugimoto, S. Yang, C.F. Ruivo, S.A. Melo, J.J. Lee, R. Kalluri, Exosomes facilitate therapeutic targeting of oncogenic KRAS in pancreatic cancer, Nature. (2017) https://doi.org/10.1038/nature22341.
- [76] L. Alvarez-Erviti, Y. Seow, H. Yin, C. Betts, S. Lakhal, M.J.A. Wood, Delivery of siRNA to the mouse brain by systemic injection of targeted exosomes, Nat. Biotechnol. (2011) https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.1807.
- [77] S. Keerthikumar, D. Chisanga, D. Ariyaratne, H. Al Saffar, S. Anand, K. Zhao, M. Samuel, M. Pathan, M. Jois, N. Chilamkurti, L. Gangoda, S. Mathivanan, ExoCarta: a web-based compendium of Exosomal cargo, J. Mol. Biol. (2016) https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jmb.2015.09.019.
- [78] B. Czech, G.J. Hannon, Small RNA sorting: matchmaking for argonautes, Nat. Rev. Genet. (2011) https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2916.
- [79] M. Terrazas, S.M. Ocampo, J.C. Perales, V.E. Marquez, R. Eritja, Effect of North Bicyclo[3.1.0]hexane 2'-Deoxy-pseudosugars on RNA Interference: A Novel Class of siRNA Modification, ChemBioChem. (2011) https://doi.org/10.1002/cbic. 201000791.
- [80] J.B. Bramsen, M.M. Pakula, T.B. Hansen, C. Bus, N. Langkjær, D. Odadzic, R. Smicius, S.L. Wengel, J. Chattopadhyaya, J.W. Engels, P. Herdewijn, J. Wengel, J. Kjems, A screen of chemical modifications identifies position-specific modification by UNA to most potently reduce siRNA off-target effects, Nucleic Acids Res. (2010) https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkq341.
- [81] F. Eberle, K. Gießler, C. Deck, K. Heeg, M. Peter, C. Richert, A.H. Dalpke, Modifications in small interfering RNA that separate Immunostimulation from RNA interference, J. Immunol. (2008) https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.180.5.3229.
- [82] S.R. Suter, A. Ball-Jones, M.M. Mumbleau, R. Valenzuela, J. Ibarra-Soza, H. Owens, A.J. Fisher, P.A. Beal, Controlling miRNA-like off-target effects of an siRNA with nucleobase modifications, Org. Biomol. Chem. (2017) https://doi.org/10.1039/ c7ob02654d.
- [83] A. Alagia, A.F. Jorge, A. Aviñó, T.F.G.G. Cova, R. Crehuet, S. Grijalvo, A.A.C.C. Pais, R. Eritja, Exploring PAZ/3'-overhang interaction to improve siRNA specificity. A combined experimental and modeling study, Chem. Sci. (2018) https://doi.org/10. 1039/c8sc00010g.
- [84] C. Wolfrum, S. Shi, K.N. Jayaprakash, M. Jayaraman, G. Wang, R.K. Pandey, K.G. Rajeev, T. Nakayama, K. Charrise, E.M. Ndungo, T. Zimmermann, V. Koteliansky, M. Manoharan, M. Stoffel, Mechanisms and optimization of in vivo delivery of lipophilic siRNAs, Nat. Biotechnol. (2007) https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt1339.
- [85] J.K. Nair, J.L.S. Willoughby, A. Chan, K. Charisse, M.R. Alam, Q. Wang, M. Hoekstra, P. Kandasamy, A.V. Kelin, S. Milstein, N. Taneja, J. Oshea, S. Shaikh, L. Zhang, R.J. Van Der Sluis, M.E. Jung, A. Akinc, R. Hutabarat, S. Kuchimanchi, K. Fitzgerald, T. Zimmermann, T.J.C. Van Berkel, M.A. Maier, K.G. Rajeev, M. Manoharan, Multivalent N -acetylgalactosamine-conjugated siRNA localizes in hepatocytes and elicits robust RNAi-mediated gene silencing, J. Am. Chem. Soc. (2014) https://doi.org/10.1021/ja505986a.
- [86] A.D. Springer, S.F. Dowdy, GalNAc-siRNA conjugates: leading the way for delivery of RNAi therapeutics, Nucleic Acid Ther. (2018) https://doi.org/10.1089/nat.2018. 0736.
- [87] P. Sapra, T.M. Allen, Ligand-targeted liposomal anticancer drugs, Prog. Lipid Res. (2003) https://doi.org/10.1016/S0163-7827(03)00032-8.
- [88] S. Cressman, I. Dobson, J.B. Lee, Y.Y.C. Tam, P.R. Cullis, Synthesis of a labeled RGDlipid, its incorporation into liposomal nanoparticles, and their trafficking in cultured endothelial cells, Bioconjug. Chem. (2009) https://doi.org/10.1021/ bc900041f.
- [89] D. Di Paolo, C. Ambrogio, F. Pastorino, C. Brignole, C. Martinengo, R. Carosio, M. Loi, G. Pagnan, L. Emionite, M. Cilli, D. Ribatti, T.M. Allen, R. Chiarle, M. Ponzoni, P. Perri, Selective therapeutic targeting of the anaplastic lymphoma kinase with liposomal siRNA induces apoptosis and inhibits angiogenesis in neuroblastoma, Mol. Ther. (2011) https://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2011.142.
- [90] D. Di Paolo, C. Brignole, F. Pastorino, R. Carosio, A. Zorzoli, M. Rossi, M. Loi, G. Pagnan, L. Emionite, M. Cilli, S. Bruno, R. Chiarle, T.M. Allen, M. Ponzoni, P. Perri,

Neuroblastoma-targeted nanoparticles entrapping siRNA specifically knockdown ALK, Mol. Ther. (2011) https://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2011.54.

- [91] C.M. Roth, Quantitative measurements and rational materials design for intracellular delivery of oligonucleotides, Biotechnol. Prog, 2008https://doi.org/10.1021/ bp070128l.
- [92] H. Akita, K. Kogure, R. Moriguchi, Y. Nakamura, T. Higashi, T. Nakamura, S. Serada, M. Fujimoto, T. Naka, S. Futaki, H. Harashima, Nanoparticles for ex vivo siRNA delivery to dendritic cells for cancer vaccines: programmed endosomal escape and dissociation, J. Control. Release (2010) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2010. 01.012.
- [93] I. Nakase, M. Niwa, T. Takeuchi, K. Sonomura, N. Kawabata, Y. Koike, M. Takehashi, S. Tanaka, K. Ueda, J.C. Simpson, A.T. Jones, Y. Sugiura, S. Futaki, Cellular uptake of arginine-rich peptides: roles for macropinocytosis and actin rearrangement, Mol. Ther. (2004) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymthe.2004.08.010.
- [94] S. Nir, F. Nicol, F.C. Szoka, Surface aggregation and membrane penetration by peptides: Relation to pore formation and fusion, Mol. Membr. Biol, 1999 https://doi. org/10.1080/096876899294814.
- [95] Y. Sakurai, H. Hatakeyama, Y. Sato, H. Akita, K. Takayama, S. Kobayashi, S. Futaki, H. Harashima, Endosomal escape and the knockdown efficiency of liposomal-siRNA by the fusogenic peptide shGALA, Biomaterials (2011) https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biomaterials.2011.04.047.
- [96] Z. Yang, B. Yu, J. Zhu, X. Huang, J. Xie, S. Xu, X. Yang, X. Wang, B.C. Yung, L.J. Lee, R.J. Lee, L. Teng, A microfluidic method to synthesize transferrin-lipid nanoparticles loaded with siRNA LOR-1284 for therapy of acute myeloid leukemia, Nanoscale. (2014) https://doi.org/10.1039/c4nr01510j.
- [97] B. Yu, X. Wang, C. Zhou, L. Teng, W. Ren, Z. Yang, C.H. Shih, T. Wang, R.J. Lee, S. Tang, LJ. Lee, Insight into mechanisms of cellular uptake of lipid nanoparticles and intracellular release of small RNAs, Pharm. Res. (2014) https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-014-1366-7.
- [98] R. Krzysztoń, B. Salem, D.J. Lee, G. Schwake, E. Wagner, J.O. R\u00e4der, Microfluidic selfassembly of folate-targeted monomolecular siRNA-lipid nanoparticles, Nanoscale. (2017) https://doi.org/10.1039/c7nr01593c.
- [99] A. Okamoto, T. Asai, H. Kato, H. Ando, T. Minamino, E. Mekada, N. Oku, Antibodymodified lipid nanoparticles for selective delivery of siRNA to tumors expressing membrane-anchored form of HB-EGF, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. (2014) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.05.043.
- [100] J. Gao, J. Sun, H. Li, W. Liu, Y. Zhang, B. Li, W. Qian, H. Wang, J. Chen, Y. Guo, Lyophilized HER2-specific PEGylated immunoliposomes for active siRNA gene silencing, Biomaterials. (2010) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2009.11.112.
- [101] J. Bruun, T.B. Larsen, R.I. Jølck, R. Eliasen, R. Holm, T. Gjetting, T.L. Andresen, Investigation of enzyme-sensitive lipid nanoparticles for delivery of siRNA to bloodbrain barrier and glioma cells, Int. J. Nanomedicine (2015) https://doi.org/10. 2147/IJN.S87334.
- [102] K. Kusumoto, H. Akita, T. Ishitsuka, Y. Matsumoto, T. Nomoto, R. Furukawa, A. El-Sayed, H. Hatakeyama, K. Kajimoto, Y. Yamada, K. Kataoka, H. Harashima, Lipid envelope-type nanoparticle incorporating a multifunctional peptide for systemic siRNA delivery to the pulmonary endothelium, ACS Nano, 2013https://doi.org/10.1021/nn401317t.
- [103] S. Ramishetti, R. Kedmi, M. Goldsmith, F. Leonard, A.G. Sprague, B. Godin, M. Gozin, P.R. Cullis, D.M. Dykxhoorn, D. Peer, Systemic gene silencing in primary T lymphocytes using targeted lipid nanoparticles, ACS Nano (2015) https://doi.org/10.1021/ acsnano.5b02796.
- [104] A. Okamoto, T. Asai, Y. Hirai, K. Shimizu, H. Koide, T. Minamino, N. Oku, Systemic administration of siRNA with anti-HB-EGF antibody-modified lipid nanoparticles for the treatment of triple-negative breast cancer, Mol. Pharm. (2018) https:// doi.org/10.1021/acs.molpharmaceut.7b01055.
- [105] G. Sahay, W. Querbes, C. Alabi, A. Eltoukhy, S. Sarkar, C. Zurenko, E. Karagiannis, K. Love, D. Chen, R. Zoncu, Y. Buganim, A. Schroeder, R. Langer, D.G. Anderson, Efficiency of siRNA delivery by lipid nanoparticles is limited by endocytic recycling, Nat. Biotechnol. (2013) https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.2614.
- [106] D.B. Fenske, A. Chonn, P.R. Cullis, Liposomal nanomedicines: an emerging field, Toxicol. Pathol. (2008) https://doi.org/10.1177/0192623307310960.
- [107] S.C. Semple, S.K. Klimuk, T.O. Harasym, N. Dos Santos, S.M. Ansell, K.F. Wong, N. Maurer, H. Stark, P.R. Cullis, M.J. Hope, P. Scherrer, Efficient encapsulation of antisense oligonucleotides in lipid vesicles using ionizable aminolipids: Formation of novel small multilamellar vesicle structures, Biochim. Biophys. Acta Biomembr. (2001) https://doi.org/10.1016/S0005-2736(00)00343-6.
- [108] A. Chonn, S.C. Semple, P.R. Cullis, Association of Blood Proteins with large Unilamellar liposomes in vivo, J. Biol. Chem. 267 (1992) 18759–18765.
- [109] M. Sako, F. Song, A. Okamoto, H. Koide, T. Dewa, N. Oku, T. Asai, Key determinants of siRNA delivery mediated by unique pH-responsive lipid-based liposomes, Int. J. Pharm. (2019) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2019.118606.
- [110] M. Côté, J. Misasi, T. Ren, A. Bruchez, K. Lee, C.M. Filone, L. Hensley, Q. Li, D. Ory, K. Chandran, J. Cunningham, Small molecule inhibitors reveal Niemann-Pick C1 is essential for Ebola virus infection, Nature. (2011) https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10380.
- [111] H. Wang, Y.Y.C. Tam, S. Chen, J. Zaifman, R. Van Der Meel, M.A. Ciufolini, P.R. Cullis, The niemann-pick C1 inhibitor NP3.47 enhances gene silencing potency of lipid nanoparticles containing siRNA, Mol. Ther. (2016) https://doi.org/10.1038/mt. 2016.179.
- [112] B.L. Mui, Y.K. Tam, M. Jayaraman, S.M. Ansell, X. Du, Y.Y.C. Tam, P.J.C. Lin, S. Chen, J.K. Narayanannair, K.G. Rajeev, M. Manoharan, A. Akinc, M.A. Maier, P. Cullis, T.D. Madden, M.J. Hope, Influence of polyethylene glycol lipid desorption rates on pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of siRNA lipid nanoparticles, Mol. Ther. - Nucleic Acids. (2013) https://doi.org/10.1038/mtna.2013.66.

- [113] S. Chen, Y.Y.C. Tam, P.J.C. Lin, M.M.H. Sung, Y.K. Tam, P.R. Cullis, Influence of particle size on the in vivo potency of lipid nanoparticle formulations of siRNA, J. Control. Release (2016) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.05.059.
- [114] V. Kumar, J. Qin, Y. Jiang, R.G. Duncan, B. Brigham, S. Fishman, J.K. Nair, A. Akinc, S.A. Barros, P.V. Kasperkovitz, Shielding of lipid nanoparticles for siRNA delivery: Impact on physicochemical properties, cytokine induction, and efficacy, Mol. Ther. - Nucleic Acids. (2014) https://doi.org/10.1038/mtna.2014.61.
- [115] F. Song, N. Sakurai, A. Okamoto, H. Koide, N. Oku, T. Dewa, T. Asai, Design of a novel PEGylated liposomal vector for systemic delivery of siRNA to solid tumors, Biol. Pharm. Bull. (2019) https://doi.org/10.1248/bpb.b19-00032.
- [116] J. Szebeni, Complement activation-related pseudoallergy: a stress reaction in blood triggered by nanomedicines and biologicals, Mol. Immunol. (2014) https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.molimm.2014.06.038.
- [117] S. Chen, J. Zaifman, J.A. Kulkarni, I.V. Zhigaltsev, Y.K. Tam, M.A. Ciufolini, Y.Y.C. Tam, P.R. Cullis, Dexamethasone prodrugs as potent suppressors of the immunostimulatory effects of lipid nanoparticle formulations of nucleic acids, J. Control. Release (2018) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2018.07.026.
- [118] H. Koide, T. Asai, H. Kato, N. Yonenaga, M. Yokota, H. Ando, T. Dewa, M. Nango, N. Maeda, N. Oku, Susceptibility of PTEN-positive metastatic tumors to small interfering RNA targeting the mammalian target of rapamycin, Nanomed. Nanotechnol. Biol. Med. (2015) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2014.09.003.
- [119] J.E. Podesta, K. Kostarelos, Chapter 17 Engineering Cationic Liposome. siRNA Complexes for In Vitro and In Vivo Delivery, Methods Enzymol. (2009) https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0076-6879(09)64017-9.
- [120] L. Miao, L. Huang, Exploring the tumor microenvironment with nanoparticles, Cancer Treat. Res. (2015) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-16555-4_9.
- [121] H. Maeda, J. Wu, T. Sawa, Y. Matsumura, K. Hori, Tumor vascular permeability and the EPR effect in macromolecular therapeutics: a review, J. Control. Release (2000) https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-3659(99)00248-5.
- [122] H. Akita, T. Nakatani, K. Kuroki, K. Maenaka, K. Tange, Y. Nakai, H. Harashima, Effect of hydrophobic scaffold on the cellular uptake and gene transfection activities of DNA-encapsulating liposomal nanoparticles via intracerebroventricular administration, Int. J. Pharm. (2015) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2015.05.043.
- [123] Y. Suzuki, H. Ishihara, Structure, activity and uptake mechanism of siRNA-lipid nanoparticles with an asymmetric ionizable lipid, Int. J. Pharm. (2016) https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2016.06.124.
- [124] D. Chen, N. Parayath, S. Ganesh, W. Wang, M. Amiji, The role of apolipoprotein-And vitronectin-enriched protein corona on lipid nanoparticles for- And vivo targeted delivery and transfection of oligonucleotides in murine tumor models, Nanoscale. (2019) https://doi.org/10.1039/c9nr05788a.
- [125] H. Saito, S. Lund-Katz, M.C. Phillips, Contributions of domain structure and lipid interaction to the functionality of exchangeable human apolipoproteins, Prog. Lipid Res. (2004) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plipres.2004.05.002.
- [126] X. Huang, R.J. Lee, Y. Qi, Y. Li, J. Lu, Q. Meng, L. Teng, J. Xie, Microfluidic hydrodynamic focusing synthesis of polymer-lipid nanoparticles for siRNA delivery, Oncotarget (2017) https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.18281.
- [127] Y. Li, R.J. Lee, K. Yu, Y. Bi, Y. Qi, Y. Sun, Y. Li, J. Xie, L. Teng, Delivery of siRNA using lipid nanoparticles modified with cell penetrating peptide, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces (2016) https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.6b09991.
- [128] Y. Yamamoto, P.J.C. Lin, E. Beraldi, F. Zhang, Y. Kawai, J. Leong, H. Katsumi, L. Fazli, R. Fraser, P.R. Cullis, M.E. Gleave, siRNA lipid nanoparticle potently silences clusterin and delays progression when combined with androgen receptor cotargeting in enzalutamide-resistant prostate cancer, Clin. Cancer Res. (2015) https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-0866.
- [129] F. Yotsumoto, E. Oki, E. Tokunaga, Y. Maehara, M. Kuroki, S. Miyamoto, HB-EGF orchestrates the complex signals involved in triple-negative and trastuzumabresistant breast cancer, Int. J. Cancer (2010) https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.25472.
- [130] C.M. Perou, T. Sørile, M.B. Eisen, M. Van De Rijn, S.S. Jeffrey, C.A. Ress, J.R. Pollack, D.T. Ross, H. Johnsen, L.A. Akslen, Ø. Fluge, A. Pergammenschlkov, C. Williams, S.X. Zhu, P.E. Lønning, A.L. Børresen-Dale, P.O. Brown, D. Botstein, Molecular portraits of human breast tumours, Nature. (2000) https://doi.org/10.1038/35021093.
- [131] J. Shen, H. Liu, C. Mu, J. Wolfram, W. Zhang, H.C. Kim, G. Zhu, Z. Hu, L.N. Ji, X. Liu, M. Ferrari, Z.W. Mao, H. Shen, Multi-step encapsulation of chemotherapy and gene silencing agents in functionalized mesoporous silica nanoparticles, Nanoscale. (2017) https://doi.org/10.1039/c7nr00377c.
- [132] Z. Yang, T. Liu, Y. Xie, Z. Sun, H. Liu, J. Lin, C. Liu, Z.W. Mao, S. Nie, Chitosan layered gold nanorods as synergistic therapeutics for photothermal ablation and gene silencing in triple-negative breast cancer, Acta Biomater. (2015) https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.actbio.2015.07.026.
- [133] J.G. Parvani, M.D. Gujrati, M.A. Mack, W.P. Schiemann, Z.R. Lu, Silencing β3 integrin by targeted ECO/siRNA nanoparticles inhibits EMT and metastasis of triplenegative breast cancer, Cancer Res. (2015) https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-14-3485.
- [134] Y. Sakurai, W. Mizumura, M. Murata, T. Hada, S. Yamamoto, K. Ito, K. Iwasaki, T. Katoh, Y. Goto, A. Takagi, M. Kohara, H. Suga, H. Harashima, Efficient siRNA delivery by lipid nanoparticles modified with a nonstandard macrocyclic peptide for EpCAM-targeting, Mol. Pharm. (2017) https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.molpharmaceut.7b00362.
- [135] N. Jyotsana, A. Sharma, A. Chaturvedi, R. Budida, M. Scherr, F. Kuchenbauer, R. Lindner, F. Noyan, K.W. Sühs, M. Stangel, D. Grote-Koska, K. Brand, H.P. Vornlocher, M. Eder, F. Thol, A. Ganser, R.K. Humphries, E. Ramsay, P. Cullis, M. Heuser, Lipid nanoparticle-mediated siRNA delivery for safe targeting of human CML in vivo, Ann. Hematol. (2019) https://doi.org/10.1007/s00277-019-03713-y.
- [136] M. Talpaz, N.P. Shah, H. Kantarjian, N. Donato, J. Nicoll, R. Paquette, J. Cortes, S. O'Brien, C. Nicaise, E. Bleickardt, M.A. Blackwood-Chirchir, V. Iyer, T.T. Chen, F. Huang, A.P. Decillis, C.L. Sawyers, Dasatinib in imatinib-resistant Philadelphia

chromosome-positive leukemias, N. Engl. J. Med. (2006) https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa055229.

- [137] C.M. Knapp, J. He, J. Lister, K.A. Whitehead, Lipid nanoparticle siRNA cocktails for the treatment of mantle cell lymphoma, Bioeng. Transl. Med. (2018) https://doi. org/10.1002/btm2.10088.
- [138] E. Campo, S. Rule, Mantle cell lymphoma: Evolving management strategies, Blood. (2015) https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2014-05-521898.
- [139] I. Avivi, A. Goy, Refining the mantle cell lymphoma paradigm: impact of novel therapies on current practice, Clin. Cancer Res. (2015) https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-0488.
- [140] S. Beà, R. Valdés-Mas, A. Navarro, I. Salaverria, D. Martín-Garcia, P. Jares, E. Giné, M. Pinyol, C. Royo, F. Nadeu, L. Conde, M. Juan, G. Clot, P. Vizán, L. Di Croce, D.A. Puente, M. López-Guerra, A. Moros, G. Roue, M. Aymerich, N. Villamor, L. Colomo, A. Martínez, A. Valera, J.I. Martín-Subero, V. Amador, L. Hernández, M. Rozman, A. Enjuanes, P. Forcada, A. Muntañola, E.M. Hartmann, M.J. Calasanz, A. Rosenwald, G. Ott, J.M. Hernández-Rivas, W. Klapper, R. Siebert, A. Wiestner, W.H. Wilson, D. Colomer, A. López-Guillermo, C. López-Otín, X.S. Puente, E. Campo, Landscape of somatic mutations and clonal evolution in mantle cell lymphoma, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. (2013) https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 1314608110.
- [141] L. Tracey, A. Pérez-Rosado, M.J. Artiga, F.I. Camacho, A. Rodríguez, N. Martínez, E. Ruiz-Ballesteros, M. Mollejo, B. Martinez, M. Cuadros, J.F. Garcia, M. Lawler, M.Á. Piris, Expression of the NF+kB targets BCL2 and BIRC5/Survivin characterizes small B-cell and aggressive B-cell lymphomas, respectively, J. Pathol. (2005) https://doi.org/10.1002/path.1768.
- [142] J.D. Khoury, L.J. Medeiros, G.Z. Rassidakis, T.J. McDonnell, L.V. Abruzzo, R. Lai, Expression of McI-1 in mantle cell lymphoma is associated with high-grade morphology, a high proliferative state, and p53 overexpression, J. Pathol. (2003) https://doi. org/10.1002/path.1254.
- [143] K.W. Huang, F.F. Hsu, J.T. Qiu, G.J. Chern, Y.A. Lee, C.C. Chang, Y.T. Huang, Y.C. Sung, C.C. Chiang, R.L. Huang, C.C. Lin, T.K. Dinh, H.C. Huang, Y.C. Shih, D. Alson, C.Y. Lin, Y.C. Lin, P.C. Chang, S.Y. Lin, Y. Chen, Highly efficient and tumor-selective nanoparticles for dual-targeted immunogene therapy against cancer, Sci. Adv. (2020) https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aax5032.
- [144] Y. Huang, S. Goel, D.G. Duda, D. Fukumura, R.K. Jain, Vascular normalization as an emerging strategy to enhance cancer immunotherapy, Cancer Res. (2013) https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-4354.
- [145] A. Singh, P. Trivedi, N.K. Jain, Advances in siRNA delivery in cancer therapy, Artif. Cells, Nanomed. Biotechnol. (2018) https://doi.org/10.1080/21691401.2017. 1307210.
- [146] C.N. Landen, A. Chavez-Reyes, C. Bucana, R. Schmandt, M.T. Deavers, G. Lopez-Berestein, A.K. Sood, Therapeutic EphA2 gene targeting in vivo using neutral liposomal small interfering RNA delivery, Cancer Res, 2005 https://doi.org/10.1158/ 0008-5472.CAN-05-0530.
- [147] A.W. Tolcher, K.P. Papadopoulos, A. Patnaik, D.W. Rasco, D. Martinez, D.L. Wood, B. Fielman, M. Sharma, L.A. Janisch, B.D. Brown, P. Bhargava, M.J. Ratain, Safety and activity of DCR-MYC, a first-in-class Dicer-substrate small interfering RNA (DsiRNA) targeting MYC, in a phase I study in patients with advanced solid tumors, J. Clin. Oncol. (2015) https://doi.org/10.1200/jco.2015.33.15_suppl.11006.
- [148] I. El Dika, H.Y. Lim, W.P. Yong, C. Lin, J. Yoon, M. Modiano, B. Freilich, H.J. Choi, T. Chao, R.K. Kelley, J. Brown, J. Knox, B. Ryoo, T. Yau, G.K. Abou-Alfa, An Open-Label, Multicenter, Phase I, Dose Escalation Study with Phase II Expansion Cohort to Determine the Safety, Pharmacokinetics, and Preliminary Antitumor Activity of Intravenous TKM-080301 in Subjects with Advanced Hepatocellular Carcinoma, Oncologist, 2019https://doi.org/10.1634/theoncologist.2018-0838.
- [149] R. Parboosing, G.E.M. Maguire, P. Govender, H.G. Kruger, Nanotechnology and the treatment of HIV infection, Viruses. (2012) https://doi.org/10.3390/v4040488.
- [150] A. Kumar, H. Ma, X. Zhang, K. Huang, S. Jin, J. Liu, T. Wei, W. Cao, G. Zou, X.J. Liang, Gold nanoparticles functionalized with therapeutic and targeted peptides for cancer treatment, Biomaterials. (2012) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials. 2011.10.058.
- [151] J. Caron, L.H. Reddy, S. Lepêtre-Mouelhi, S. Wack, P. Clayette, C. Rogez-Kreuz, R. Yousfi, P. Couvreur, D. Desmaële, Squalenoyl nucleoside monophosphate nanoassemblies: New prodrug strategy for the delivery of nucleotide analogues, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. (2010) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmcl.2010.03.070.
- [152] R.A. Petros, J.M. Desimone, Strategies in the design of nanoparticles for therapeutic applications, Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. (2010) https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd2591.
- [153] T. Cihlar, A.S. Ray, Nucleoside and nucleotide HIV reverse transcriptase inhibitors: 25 years after zidovudine, Antivir. Res. (2010) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.antiviral. 2009.09.014.
- [154] M.P. de Béthune, Non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NNRTIs), their discovery, development, and use in the treatment of HIV-1 infection: A review of the last 20 years (1989-2009), Antiviral Res, 2010https://doi.org/10.1016/j. antiviral.2009.09.008.
- [155] C. Flexner, HIV-protease inhibitors, N. Engl. J. Med. (1998) https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJM199804303381808.
- [156] J. Münch, L. Ständker, K. Adermann, A. Schulz, M. Schindler, R. Chinnadurai, S. Pöhlmann, C. Chaipan, T. Biet, T. Peters, B. Meyer, D. Wilhelm, H. Lu, W. Jing, S. Jiang, W.G. Forssmann, F. Kirchhoff, Discovery and optimization of a natural HIV-1 entry inhibitor targeting the gp41 fusion peptide, Cell. (2007) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2007.02.042.
- [157] G. Fätkenheuer, A.L. Pozniak, M.A. Johnson, A. Plettenberg, S. Staszewski, A.I.M. Hoepelman, M.S. Saag, F.D. Goebel, J.K. Rockstroh, B.J. Dezube, T.M. Jenkins, C. Medhurst, J.F. Sullivan, C. Ridgway, S. Abel, I.T. James, M. Youle, E. Van Der Ryst, Efficacy of short-term monotherapy with maraviroc, a new CCR5 antagonist, in patients infected with HIV-1, Nat. Med. (2005) https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1319.

- [158] G. Barbaro, A. Scozzafava, A. Mastrolorenzo, C. Supuran, Highly active antiretroviral therapy: current state of the art, new agents and their pharmacological interactions useful for improving therapeutic outcome, Curr. Pharm. Des. (2005) https://doi.org/10.2174/1381612053764869.
- [159] S. Boyapalle, S. Mohapatra, S. Mohapatra, Nanotechnology applications to HIV vaccines and microbicides, J. Global Infect. Dis. (2012) https://doi.org/10.4103/0974-777X.93764.
- [160] J.J. Glass, S.J. Kent, R. De Rose, Enhancing dendritic cell activation and HIV vaccine effectiveness through nanoparticle vaccination, Expert Rev. Vaccines. (2016) https://doi.org/10.1586/14760584.2016.1141054.
- [161] S.K. Adesina, E.O. Akala, Nanotechnology approaches for the delivery of exogenous siRNA for HIV therapy, Mol. Pharm. (2015) https://doi.org/10.1021/acs. molpharmaceut.5b00335.
- [162] L. Kumar, S. Verma, D.N. Prasad, A. Bhardwaj, B. Vaidya, A.K. Jain, Nanotechnology: A magic bullet for HIV AIDS treatment, Artif. Cells, Nanomed. Biotechnol. (2015) https://doi.org/10.3109/21691401.2014.883400.
- [163] A. Vashist, A. Kaushik, A. Vashist, R.D. Jayant, A. Tomitaka, S. Ahmad, Y.K. Gupta, M. Nair, Recent trends on hydrogel based drug delivery systems for infectious diseases, Biomater. Sci. (2016) https://doi.org/10.1039/c6bm00276e.
- [164] S.S. Kim, D. Peer, P. Kumar, S. Subramanya, H. Wu, D. Asthana, K. Habiro, Y.G. Yang, N. Manjunath, M. Shimaoka, P. Shankar, RNAi-mediated CCR5 silencing by LFA-1targeted nanoparticles prevents HIV infection in BLT mice, Mol. Ther. (2010) https://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2009.271.
- [165] E. Berger, D. Breznan, S. Stals, V.J. Jasinghe, D. Gonçalves, D. Girard, S. Faucher, R. Vincent, A.R. Thierry, C. Lavigne, Cytotoxicity assessment, inflammatory properties, and cellular uptake of Neutraplex lipid-based nanoparticles in THP-1 monocyte-derived macrophages, Nanobiomedicine. (2017) https://doi.org/10.1177/1849543517746259.
- [166] S. Boyapalle, W. Xu, P. Raulji, S. Mohapatra, S.S. Mohapatra, A multiple siRNA-based anti-HIV/SHIV Microbicide shows protection in both in vitro and in vivo models, PLoS One (2015) https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0135288.
- [167] S. Manzoor, M. Saalim, M. Imran, S. Resham, J. Ashraf, Hepatitis B virus therapy: What's the future holding for us? World J. Gastroenterol. (2015) https://doi.org/ 10.3748/wjg.v21.i44.12558.
- [168] Y.F. Liaw, J.J.Y. Sung, W.C. Chow, G. Farrell, C.Z. Lee, H. Yuen, T. Tanwandee, Q.M. Tao, K. Shue, O.N. Keene, J.S. Dixon, D.F. Gray, J. Sabbat, Lamivudine for patients with chronic hepatitis B and advanced liver disease, N. Engl. J. Med. (2004) https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa033364.
- [169] Y. Sato, H. Matsui, N. Yamamoto, R. Sato, T. Munakata, M. Kohara, H. Harashima, Highly specific delivery of siRNA to hepatocytes circumvents endothelial cellmediated lipid nanoparticle-associated toxicity leading to the safe and efficacious decrease in the hepatitis B virus, J. Control. Release (2017) https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jconrel.2017.09.044.
- [170] S. Szunerits, A. Barras, M. Khanal, Q. Pagneux, R. Boukherroub, Nanostructures for the inhibition of viral infections, Molecules. (2015) https://doi.org/10.3390/ molecules200814051.
- [171] J.S. Moon, S.H. Lee, S.H. Han, E.J. Kim, H. Cho, W. Lee, M.K. Kim, T.E. Kim, H.J. Park, J.K. Rhee, S.J. Kim, S.W. Cho, S.H. Han, J.W. Oh, Inhibition of hepatitis C virus in mouse models by lipidoid nanoparticle-mediated systemic delivery of siRNA against PRK2, Nanomedicine (2016) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2016.02.015.
- [172] L. Duan, Y. Yan, J. Liu, B. Wang, P. Li, Q. Hu, W. Chen, Target delivery of small interfering RNAs with vitamin E-coupled nanoparticles for treating hepatitis C, Sci. Rep. (2016) https://doi.org/10.1038/srep24867.
- [173] A.A. Chepurnov, L.F. Bakulina, A.A. Dadaeva, E.N. Ustinova, T.S. Chepurnova, J.R. Baker, Inactivation of Ebola virus with a surfactant nanoemulsion, Acta Trop. (2003) https://doi.org/10.1016/S0001-706X(03)00120-7.
- [174] J.S. Towner, P.E. Rollin, D.G. Bausch, A. Sanchez, S.M. Crary, M. Vincent, W.F. Lee, C.F. Spiropoulou, T.G. Ksiazek, M. Lukwiya, F. Kaducu, R. Downing, S.T. Nichol, Rapid diagnosis of Ebola Hemorrhagic fever by reverse transcription-PCR in an outbreak setting and assessment of patient viral load as a predictor of outcome, J. Virol. (2004) https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.78.8.4330-4341.2004.
- [175] J. Dunning, F. Sahr, A. Rojek, F. Gannon, G. Carson, B. Idriss, T. Massaquoi, R. Gandi, S. Joseph, H.K. Osman, T.J.G. Brooks, A.J.H. Simpson, I. Goodfellow, L. Thorne, A. Arias, L. Merson, L. Castle, R. Howell-Jones, R. Pardinaz-Solis, B. Hope-Gill, M. Ferri, J. Grove, M. Kowalski, K. Stepniewska, T. Lang, J. Whitehead, P. Olliaro, M. Samai, P.W. Horby, Experimental treatment of ebola virus disease with TKM-130803: A single-Arm phase 2 clinical trial, PLoS Med. (2016) https://doi.org/10. 1371/journal.pmed.1001997.
- [176] T.W. Geisbert, A.C. Lee, M. Robbins, J.B. Geisbert, A.N. Honko, V. Sood, J.C. Johnson, S. de Jong, I. Tavakoli, A. Judge, L.E. Hensley, I. MacLachlan, Postexposure protection of non-human primates against a lethal Ebola virus challenge with RNA interference: a proof-of-concept study, Lancet. (2010) https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60357-1.
- [177] E.P. Thi, C.E. Mire, A.C.H. Lee, J.B. Geisbert, R. Ursic-Bedoya, K.N. Agans, M. Robbins, D.J. Deer, R.W. Cross, A.S. Kondratowicz, K.A. Fenton, I. MacLachlan, T.W. Geisbert, siRNA rescues nonhuman primates from advanced Marburg and Ravn virus disease, J. Clin. Invest. (2017) https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI96185.
- [178] E.P. Thi, A.C.H. Lee, J.B. Geisbert, R. Ursic-Bedoya, K.N. Agans, M. Robbins, D.J. Deer, K.A. Fenton, A.S. Kondratowicz, I. MacLachlan, T.W. Geisbert, C.E. Mire, Rescue of non-human primates from advanced Sudan ebolavirus infection with lipid encapsulated siRNA, Nat. Microbiol. (2016) https://doi.org/10.1038/nmicrobiol. 2016.142.
- [179] P. Zhou, X. Lou Yang, X.G. Wang, B. Hu, L. Zhang, W. Zhang, H.R. Si, Y. Zhu, B. Li, C.L. Huang, H.D. Chen, J. Chen, Y. Luo, H. Guo, R. Di Jiang, M.Q. Liu, Y. Chen, X.R. Shen, X. Wang, X.S. Zheng, K. Zhao, QJ. Chen, F. Deng, LL. Liu, B. Yan, F.X. Zhan, Y.Y. Wang,

G.F. Xiao, Z.L. Shi, A pneumonia outbreak associated with a new coronavirus of probable bat origin, Nature, 2020 https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2012-7.

- [180] C. Liu, Q. Zhou, Y. Li, L.V. Garner, S.P. Watkins, L.J. Carter, J. Smoot, A.C. Gregg, A.D. Daniels, S. Jervey, D. Albaiu, Research and Development on Therapeutic Agents and Vaccines for COVID-19 and Related Human Coronavirus Diseases, ACS Cent, Sci, 2020 https://doi.org/10.1021/acscentsci.0c00272.
- [181] A. Wu, Y. Peng, B. Huang, X. Ding, X. Wang, P. Niu, J. Meng, Z. Zhu, Z. Zhang, J. Wang, J. Sheng, L. Quan, Z. Xia, W. Tan, G. Cheng, T. Jiang, Genome composition and divergence of the novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) originating in China, Cell Host Microbe (2020) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2020.02.001.
- [182] F. Wu, S. Zhao, B. Yu, Y.M. Chen, W. Wang, Z.G. Song, Y. Hu, Z.W. Tao, J.H. Tian, Y.Y. Pei, M.L. Yuan, Y.L. Zhang, F.H. Dai, Y. Liu, Q.M. Wang, J.J. Zheng, L. Xu, E.C. Holmes, Y.Z. Zhang, A new coronavirus associated with human respiratory disease in China, Nature. (2020) https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2008-3.
- [183] G. Basha, T.I. Novobrantseva, N. Rosin, Y.Y.C. Tam, I.M. Hafez, M.K. Wong, T. Sugo, V.M. Ruda, J. Qin, B. Klebanov, M. Ciufolini, A. Akinc, Y.K. Tam, M.J. Hope, P.R. Cullis, Influence of cationic lipid composition on gene silencing properties of lipid nanoparticle formulations of siRNA in antigen-presenting cells, Mol. Ther. (2011) https://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2011.190.
- [184] T. Nakamura, M. Kuroi, Y. Fujiwara, S. Warashina, Y. Sato, H. Harashima, Smallsized, stable lipid nanoparticle for the efficient delivery of siRNA to human immune cell lines, Sci. Rep. (2016) https://doi.org/10.1038/srep37849.
- [185] S. Warashina, T. Nakamura, Y. Sato, Y. Fujiwara, M. Hyodo, H. Hatakeyama, H. Harashima, A lipid nanoparticle for the efficient delivery of siRNA to dendritic cells, J. Control. Release (2016) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.01.042.
- [186] T. Nakamura, K. Yamada, Y. Fujiwara, Y. Sato, H. Harashima, Reducing the cytotoxicity of lipid nanoparticles associated with a fusogenic cationic lipid in a natural killer cell line by introducing a polycation-based siRNA core, Mol. Pharm. (2018) https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.molpharmaceut.7b01166.
- [187] J.A. Katakowski, G. Mukherjee, S.E. Wilner, K.E. Maier, M.T. Harrison, T.P. Di Lorenzo, M. Levy, D. Palliser, Delivery of siRNAs to dendritic cells using DEC205targeted lipid nanoparticles to inhibit immune responses, Mol. Ther. (2016) https://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2015.175.
- [188] F. Leuschner, P. Dutta, R. Gorbatov, T.I. Novobrantseva, J.S. Donahoe, G. Courties, K.M. Lee, J.I. Kim, J.F. Markmann, B. Marinelli, P. Panizzi, W.W. Lee, Y. Iwamoto, S. Milstein, H. Epstein-Barash, W. Cantley, J. Wong, V. Cortez-Retamozo, A. Newton, K. Love, P. Libby, M.J. Pittet, F.K. Swirski, V. Koteliansky, R. Langer, R. Weissleder, D.G. Anderson, M. Nahrendorf, Therapeutic siRNA silencing in inflammatory monocytes in mice, Nat. Biotechnol. (2011) https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.1989.
- [189] S. Gordon, Targeting a monocyte subset to reduce inflammation, Circ. Res. (2012) https://doi.org/10.1161/RES.0b013e31825ec26d.
- [190] H.B. Sager, P. Dutta, J.E. Dahlman, M. Hulsmans, G. Courties, Y. Sun, T. Heidt, C. Vinegoni, A. Borodovsky, K. Fitzgerald, G.R. Wojtkiewicz, Y. Iwamoto, B. Tricot, O.F. Khan, K.J. Kauffman, Y. Xing, T.E. Shaw, P. Libby, R. Langer, R. Weissleder, F.K. Swirski, D.G. Anderson, M. Nahrendorf, RNAi targeting multiple cell adhesion molecules reduces immune cell recruitment and vascular inflammation after myocardial infarction, Sci. Transl. Med. (2016) https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed. aaf1435.
- [191] Y. Zhao, H. Gao, J. He, C. Jiang, J. Lu, W. Zhang, H. Yang, J. Liu, Co-delivery of LOX-1 siRNA and statin to endothelial cells and macrophages in the atherosclerotic lesions by a dual-targeting core-shell nanoplatform: a dual cell therapy to regress plaques, J. Control. Release (2018) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2018.05.041.
- [192] M. Abifadel, M. Varret, J.P. Rabès, D. Allard, K. Ouguerram, M. Devillers, C. Cruaud, S. Benjannet, L. Wickham, D. Erlich, A. Derré, L. Villéger, M. Farnier, I. Beucler, E. Bruckert, J. Chambaz, B. Chanu, J.M. Lecerf, G. Luc, P. Moulin, J. Weissenbach, A. Prat, M. Krempf, C. Junien, N.G. Seidah, C. Boileau, Mutations in PCSK9 cause auto-somal dominant hypercholesterolemia, Nat. Genet. (2003) https://doi.org/10. 1038/ng1161.
- [193] M. Frank-Kamenetsky, A. Grefhorst, N.N. Anderson, T.S. Racie, B. Bramlage, A. Akinc, D. Butler, K. Charisse, R. Dorkin, Y. Fan, C. Gamba-Vitalo, P. Hadwiger, M. Jayaraman, M. John, K.N. Jayaprakash, M. Maier, L. Nechev, K.G. Rajeev, T. Read, I. Röhl, J. Soutschek, P. Tan, J. Wong, G. Wang, T. Zimmermann, A. De Fougerolles, H.P. Vornlocher, R. Langer, D.G. Anderson, M. Manoharan, V. Koteliansky, J.D. Horton, K. Fitzgerald, Therapeutic RNAi targeting PCSK9 acutely lowers plasma cholesterol in rodents and LDL cholesterol in nonhuman primates, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. (2008) https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0805434105.
- [194] K. Fitzgerald, M. Frank-Kamenetsky, S. Shulga-Morskaya, A. Liebow, B.R. Bettencourt, J.E. Sutherland, R.M. Hutabarat, V.A. Clausen, V. Karsten, J. Cehelsky,

S.V. Nochur, V. Kotelianski, J. Horton, T. Mant, J. Chiesa, J. Ritter, M. Munisamy, A.K. Vaishnaw, J.A. Gollob, A. Simon, Effect of an RNA interference drug on the synthesis of proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 (PCSK9) and the concentration of serum LDL cholesterol in healthy volunteers: A randomised, single-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 1 trial, Lancet. (2014) https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)61914-5.

- [195] K. Fitzgerald, S. White, A. Borodovsky, B.R. Bettencourt, A. Strahs, V. Clausen, P. Wijngaard, J.D. Horton, J. Taubel, A. Brooks, C. Fernando, R.S. Kauffman, D. Kallend, A. Vaishnaw, A. Simon, A highly durable RNAi therapeutic inhibitor of PCSK9, N. Engl. J. Med. (2017) https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1609243.
- [196] K. Wouters, R. Shiri-Sverdlov, P.J. van Gorp, M. van Bilsen, M.H. Hofker, Understanding hyperlipidemia and atherosclerosis: lessons from genetically modified apoe and ldlr mice, Clin. Chem. Lab. Med. (2005) https://doi.org/10.1515/CCLM. 2005.085.
- [197] M. Tadin-Strapps, L.B. Peterson, A.M. Cumiskey, R.L. Rosa, V.H. Mendoza, J. Castro-Perez, O. Puig, L. Zhang, W.R. Strapps, S. Yendluri, L. Andrews, V. Pickering, J. Rice, L. Luo, Z. Chen, S. Tep, B. Ason, E.P. Somers, A.B. Sachs, S.R. Bartz, J. Tian, J. Chin, B.K. Hubbard, K.K. Wong, L.J. Mitnaul, siRNA-induced liver ApoB knockdown lowers serum LDL-cholesterol in a mouse model with human-like serum lipids, J. Lipid Res. (2011) https://doi.org/10.1194/jir.M012872.
- [198] A.K. Vaishnaw, J. Gollob, C. Gamba-Vitalo, R. Hutabarat, D. Sah, R. Meyers, T. de Fougerolles, J. Maraganore, A status report on RNAi therapeutics, Silence. (2010) https://doi.org/10.1186/1758-907X-1-14.
- [199] A.M. Aldayel, H.L. O'Mary, S.A. Valdes, X. Li, S.G. Thakkar, B.E. Mustafa, Z. Cui, Lipid nanoparticles with minimum burst release of TNF-α siRNA show strong activity against rheumatoid arthritis unresponsive to methotrexate, J. Control. Release (2018) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2018.05.035.
- [200] W. Duan, H. Li, Combination of NF-kB targeted siRNA and methotrexate in a hybrid nanocarrier towards the effective treatment in rheumatoid arthritis, J. Nanobiotechnol. (2018) https://doi.org/10.1186/s12951-018-0382-x.
- [201] P. Song, C. Yang, J.S. Thomsen, F. Dagnæs-Hansen, M. Jakobsen, A. Brüel, B. Deleuran, J. Kjems, Lipidoid-siRNA nanoparticle-mediated IL-1β gene silencing for systemic arthritis therapy in a mouse model, Mol. Ther. (2019) https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ymthe.2019.05.002.
- [202] P. Blasi, S. Giovagnoli, A. Schoubben, M. Ricci, C. Rossi, Solid lipid nanoparticles for targeted brain drug delivery, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. (2007) https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.addr.2007.04.011.
- [203] M. Patel, E.B. Souto, K.K. Singh, Advances in brain drug targeting and delivery: limitations and challenges of solid lipid nanoparticles, Expert Opin. Drug Deliv. (2013) https://doi.org/10.1517/17425247.2013.784742.
- [204] W.M. Pardridge, Blood-brain barrier drug targeting: the future of brain drug development, Mol. Interv. (2003) https://doi.org/10.1124/mi.3.2.90.
- [205] W.M. Pardridge, Vector-mediated drug delivery to the brain, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. (1999) https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-409X(98)00087-8.
- [206] R.L. Rungta, H.B. Choi, P.J.C. Lin, R.W.Y. Ko, D. Ashby, J. Nair, M. Manoharan, P.R. Cullis, B.A. MacVicar, Lipid nanoparticle delivery of sirna to silence neuronal gene expression in the brain, Mol. Ther. - Nucleic Acids. (2013) https://doi.org/10. 1038/mtna.2013.65.
- [207] M. Conceição, L. Mendonça, C. Nóbrega, C. Gomes, P. Costa, H. Hirai, J.N. Moreira, M.C. Lima, N. Manjunath, L. Pereira de Almeida, Intravenous administration of brain-targeted stable nucleic acid lipid particles alleviates Machado-Joseph disease neurological phenotype, Biomaterials. (2016) https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biomaterials.2015.12.021.
- [208] F. Mangialasche, A. Solomon, B. Winblad, P. Mecocci, M. Kivipelto, Alzheimer's disease: clinical trials and drug development, Lancet Neurol. (2010) https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S1474-4422(10)70119-8.
- [209] G. Rassu, E. Soddu, A.M. Posadino, G. Pintus, B. Sarmento, P. Giunchedi, E. Gavini, Nose-to-brain delivery of BACE1 siRNA loaded in solid lipid nanoparticles for Alzheimer's therapy, Colloids Surf. B: Biointerfaces (2017) https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.colsurfb.2017.01.031.
- [210] A.D. Tagalakis, D.H.D. Lee, A.S. Bienemann, H. Zhou, M.M. Munye, L. Saraiva, D. McCarthy, Z. Du, C.A. Vink, R. Maeshima, E.A. White, K. Gustafsson, S.L. Hart, Multifunctional, self-assembling anionic peptide-lipid nanocomplexes for targeted siRNA delivery, Biomaterials. (2014) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2014. 06.003.